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About oceAnteAm Shipping
Oceanteam Shipping is an offshore shipping company. 
Oceanteam’s business is the owning, chartering and  
managing of Deepwater Offshore Construction Service - 
and Pipe Lay Vessels, Fast Support Vessels and Equipment.

With our in-house engineering experience and expertise 
we ensure that our Clients contract the most effective  
vessel solution for their projects. We can provide a high 
level of assistance and give support on every aspect of  
the fleet management, this includes both operational and  
technical support.

Oceanteam Shipping operates on a global basis where  
we serve three markets:

•	 Oil and gas
•	 Offshore renewable
•	 High voltage submarine power interconnectors

For more information: www.oceanteam.no

The 3rd February 2011 the company has changed name 
from Oceanteam ASA to Oceanteam Shipping ASA. The 
ticker code at the Oslo Exchange (www.ose.no) has also 
been changed to ‘’OTS’’.

compAny overview
Oceanteam Shipping was incorporated on 5th October 
2005, in Bergen Norway. In December of that year the 
company was awarded its first offshore wind farm  
installation project in The Netherlands.

Oceanteam Shipping has offices in Amsterdam and 
Schiedam in the Netherlands, Monaco, Dundee in UK  
and in Cuidad Del Carmen in Mexico. The corporate head  
quarter is in Bergen, Norway.

In February 2007 Oceanteam Shipping was listed on the 
Oslo Stock Exchange.

The “CSV Bourbon Oceanteam 101” of the North Ocean 
100 series was delivered late 2007 as the first of its mul-
tiple vessel building program. Vessel “CSV North Ocean 
102” was delivered in December 2008.

As result of disputes and project delays incurred on off-
shore renewable – and power grid installation, projects in 
2007 and 2008 and delays in combination with the credit 
crunch brought Oceanteam Shipping into liquidity problems 
at the end of 2008 and into the beginning of 2009.

In 2009 Oceanteam Shipping began a period of restructur-
ing in which the Company has exited completely from the 
offshore subsea power cable installation projects and has 
refocused on the provision of high end construction  
support vessels and engineering services.

Today, Oceanteam Shipping operates four large CSV 
North Ocean series DP 2 construction support vessels of 
which one with a 7.000 ton lay-spread, two fast support 
vessels and a pool of installation and burial equipment. 
Three operating CSV vessels are owned through 50% 
joint venture companies. In addition to its fleet of vessels, 
Oceanteam Shipping offers engineering and design services.

Lay Vessel North Ocean 105 has been delivered on the 
20th April 2012 and has commenced a five year charter 
with Mc Dermott.

oceAnteAm Shipping hAS two 
operAting SegmentS: 
Shipping And engineering.

Shipping
The North Ocean series, is a high end offshore  
construction vessel series that has proven to meet the 
requirements of the world’s most demanding clients  
and subsea conditions.

Oceanteam Shipping has an ongoing process for future 
larger and more advanced North Ocean Series vessels.

Oceanteam Shipping’s clients expect a high degree of 
cooperation from our engineering services as well as high 
level of support for the crew and owners at the various 
stages of their projects. The combination of modern tech-
nology and engineering enable the company to provide 
innovative solutions and intelligent design on which the 
company expects to build their future growth, going  
forwards. The Fast Support vessels are two Axebow 
Design Vessels operating in Venezuela.
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MiSSion, Strategy & goalS
Oceanteam Shipping’s mission is to provide state of the art 
construction support vessels that enables its customers  
to perform their operations in the most efficient manner. 
Oceanteam Shipping has developed the CSV North Ocean 
series based on the operational experience of its own, 
customers and the technical knowledge of its partners.  
The strategy of the Company is to create value for its 
shareholders by continuing the building program of the 
North Ocean series which has lead to the development of 
the new North Ocean 300 series. This design and project  
is ready to be executed subject to finance.

The short-term goals of the Company include a refinancing 
of the company.

In addition Oceanteam provides complex offshore support 
solutions through integrated seamless engineering know 
how and a pool of special purpose support equipment with 
our fleet.

The ambition is to be the first choice in engineering service 
and execution management for economical and technical 
challenging projects for offshore Oil & Gas and Offshore 
Renewable.

AnAlyticAl informAtion 2011
UsD MiLLioN 2011 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

total operating 
revenues

61,2 15,5 16,7 16,3 12,7

Operating costs (24,6) (6,3) (6,1) (6,6) (5,6)
General & admin-
istration

(11,8) (2,8) (3,3) (3,1) (2,6)

eBitDA 24,8 6,4 7,3 6,7 4,4

Key finAnciAl figureS continuing 
operAtionS (uSd million)
eBitDa DevelopMent yearly – hiStorical
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mAin eventS – 2011
reStructuring
Oceanteam Shipping completed its operational restructur-
ing in 2011. The company has completed the consolidation 
of its business and has brought the organization in line with 
its new focus.

In 2012 efforts continue to be made to harmonize cov-
enants in the different loan agreements and to refinance 
both the CSV vessels and the bond loan as part of the refi-
nancing plan.

The refinancing process could be affected by the condi-
tions in the financial markets. As part of the restructuring 
the tax losses within the Group will be settled with future 
profits where possible.

operationS
Shipping
“CSV Bourbon Oceanteam 101” has been operational from 
March throughout the year. In the first quarter 2011 the 
vessel has installed and upgraded two cranes to enable her 
to operate at 3.000 meters water depth. The charter was 
extended with BP Angola/ Oceaneering with 3 years firm 
in 2011 and 2x1 year options with the new charter starting 
from 1st February 2012.
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CSV North Ocean 102 was on charter with McDermott 
International and has successfully worked in the Middle 
East during the year.

CSV Southern Ocean (renamed from CSV Bourbon 
Oceanteam 104) has been operational with Fugro-TS 
Marine Australia. During first quarter 2012 the owners 
agreed an extension of 2 year bareboat charter until  
ending 2015 with Fugro – TS Marine Australia.

Lay Vessel North Ocean 105 has been built during 2011 
and the company received delivery of the vessels on the 
20th April 2012. The vessel has started a 5 year charter 
with McDermott and will operate on a worldwide basis as 
a pipe layer.

Oceanteam Shipping Mexico SA de CV operates two fast 
support vessels: “FSV Tiburon” and “FSV Mantaraya” were 
operational in Venezuela in 2011.

engineering
KCI Engineering and Services along with the Oceanteam 
fleet and the Oil & Gas and Offshore Renewable sector 
have performed well during the year.

KCI Engineering has successfully supported Oceanteam 
Shipping with engineering services in regards to the new 
design of the North Ocean series.

Cable lay barge Oceanteam Installer has been sold during 
the fourth quarter due to an early release of the purchase 
option by Boyden & Doylen. Prior to the execution of the 
option, the barge has been on a bare boat contract.

Oceanteam Shipping’s pool of flexible installation equip-
ment is rented out its equipment to various parties within 
the subsea power cable installation market.

New investments of the patented OTS turn table series has 
started in 2011. The carousels are designed for flexibility 
and quick mobilization on standard modern PSV/CSV type 
vessels with a minimum of 5T per m2 deck capacity. The 
modular system is delivered to the site in 40ft containers 
and can be mobilized without under deck reinforcement 
requirements. The company has taken delivery of the first 
carousel in April 2012.

BuSineSS areaS
The portfolio of Oceanteam Shipping’s activities comprises 
of time charters and bare boat contracts of construction 
support vessels and FSV’s, engineering services and the 
rental of various cable lay and burial equipment.

Oceanteam Shipping serves three markets: “Oil & Gas”, 
“Offshore Renewable” and “high voltage submarine power 
interconnectors”.

Contracts schedule
2011
Q1-2

2011
Q3-4

2012
Q1-2

2012
Q3-4

2013
Q1-2

2013
Q3-4

2014
Q1-2

2014
Q3-4

2015
Q1-2

2015
Q3-4

2016
Q1-2

2016
Q3-4

Shipping Type of contracts

CSV BO 101 time charter

CSV North Ocean 102 time charter

CSV Southern Ocean bareboat

LV North Ocean 105 time charter

Mantarraya bareboat

Tiburon bareboat

Contract Tender/Option Under construction No contractDry Dock
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The company plans to continue to invest in vessels  
and equipment whereby it focuses on the provision of  
construction support vessels, fast support vessels and 
engineering services.

Shipping
offShore conStruction Support veSSelS
Oceanteam Shipping’s diverse skill base and DP 2 con-
struction support vessel designs enable the company to 
service the Offshore Oil & Gas, the Offshore Renewable 
industries and interconnector market on a global scale.

The Construction Support Vessels are built according to 
Oceanteam Shipping’s CSV North Ocean specifications. 
These large, state-of-the art Construction Support Vessels 
have been well received by its users and have proven 
themselves to be highly capable, reliable, flexible and cost 
effective solutions to support their projects.

Oceanteam Shipping has during 2011 further developed 
the design for the North Ocean vessel and the company 
has commenced detailed engineering on new North Ocean 
series designs. The capitalized amount related to this 
design is USD 259 000.

Oil majors and larger offshore construction companies  
alike benefit from Oceanteam Shipping’s ability to support 
field developments and maintenance with its further  
optimized assets.

faSt Support veSSelS
Oceanteam Shipping’s two Fast Support Vessels of the 
Axebow design have the ability to accommodate 75 people 
and light cargo. Both vessels were operational in Venezuela 
for 2011 on bare boat contracts.

engineering
equipMent pool
Oceanteam Shipping ASA owns and operates a large pool 
of turn tables, tensioners and burial equipment from its 
deep water base in Dundee. The equipment is supplied and 
rented to a broad client base around the world to support 
offshore cable, pipeline and umbilical installations,  
transport, storage and burial.

Oceanteam Shipping ASA has invested in its new OTS 1250 

ton capacity modular carousel systems, is mobilized for a 
contractor in The Netherlands in April 2012. The carousel 
is internally developed, and uniquely flexible and efficient 
design that enables the carousel to be shipped in standard 
containers, rather than a vessel transporting a carousel in 
one piece. The carousel will be on contract for a minimum 
of 200 days onboard Solstad Offshore ASA’s CSV Normand 
Flower for an Offshore Renewables Operations contracter 
named Visser & Smit Marine Contractors in the Southern 
North Sea.

As a result of this new concept the equipment can be 
transported and mobilized to any port around the world in 
a cost effective way.

engineering ServiceS
Oceanteam Shipping’s engineering subsidiary KCI BV in  
the Netherlands provides full engineering design and  
consultancy services to clients in the onshore and offshore 
Oil & Gas and Renewable industries. In addition, they can 
provide services for complex structures both onshore and 
offshore.

Founded in 1987, KCI specializes in providing total field 
solutions for operators of marginal fields and has executed 
many complex projects for a wide range of clients. KCI’s 
primary strength lies in the ability to provide cost effective 
production applications supported by their extensive  
range of engineering design software and the significant  
experience of the in - house team.

The organisation’s specialist competence areas include the 
design of complete process hardware for both onshore, 
offshore and vessel applications.

In 2011 Oceanteam Shipping experienced a significantly 
growth in the demand for engineering services. The com-
pany grew from approximate 120 people to 155 people.

Market outlook
Since the slowdown in 2009 the different markets have 
improved during 2011. Increased oil prices will further 
strengthen the market and the Company expects this will 
increase the demand for Oceanteam Shipping’s services.

As a consequence of the divergence between the oil and 
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gas demand and the production predicted for the future, 
the oil and gas prices are forecasted to increase further. 
Exploration and production activities are likely to increase, 
as will the demand for large construction support vessels. 
In certain regions, in particular Latin-America, Australia/ 
Asia and West-Africa, exploration and production activities 
are growing strongly. Areas where Oceanteam has a strong 
presence and established customer relationships.

In Western-Europe many offshore wind parks have been 
delayed due to funding and supply chain problems. During 
2011 and for the future, the company expects the demand 
to increase for the renewable energy related services.  
This will lead to an increased demand for construction  
support vessels and cable lay and burial equipment in the 
next years where the company can strengthen its position.

QuAlity, heAlth, SAfety And 
environment
the working environMent anD the eMployeeS
Leave of absence in the Company’s Continuing Operations 
due to illness remained on a very low level. The company 
will continue to make efforts to keep absence as low as 
possible. No incidents or work related accidents resulting in 
significant personal injury occurred during the year. While 
the working environment is considered to be good, efforts 
for further improvement are made on an ongoing basis.

The number of employees ending 2011 is 175 plus Marine 
Crew which is a significant increase from 2010 with 140 
employees plus Marine Crew.

equal opportunity
Oceanteam Shipping aims to be a workplace with equal 
opportunities. The Company aims to avoid gender or other 
discrimination regarding salary, promotion and recruiting 
and this has been included in the Group policies and operat-
ing practice. During 2011 the company has implemented 
an updated HR platform to be in line with its refocused 
business and to be able to move forward in line with the 
Company’s long term strategy and goals.

DiScriMination
The discrimination Act’s objective is to promote gender 
equality, ensure equal opportunities and rights, and to  
prevent discrimination due to ethnicity, national origin, 

decent, skin color, language, religion and faith. The Group 
is working actively, determined and systematically to 
encourage the act’s purpose within our business.  
Included in the activities are recruiting, salary and working  
conditions, promotion, development, opportunities and 
protection against harassment.

The Group aims to be a workplace with no discrimination 
due to reduced functional ability and is working actively 
to design and implement the physical conditions in such 
a manner that as many as possible can utilize the vari-
ous functions. For new employees or new applicants with 
reduced functional ability, individual arrangements of 
workplace and responsibility will be made.

integrateD ManageMent SySteM
Management of QHSE is strategic to the Oceanteam 
Shipping group leading to its backbone Integrated Management 
System (IMS) which has been fully DNV certified.

Oceanteam Shipping’s operations involve construction 
support vessels, fast support vessels and subsea equip-
ment. The construction support vessels are based on 
the North Ocean series designs which takes into account 
the highest environmental demands. The company is not 
engaged in transport of oil products or chemicals.

Potentially a spill of the vessel diesel fuel and lubrication 
oils can cause undesired pollution damage. Oceanteam 
Shipping is not aware of any particular adverse effects of 
its operations on the environment in 2011 except for the 
inevitable effects related to the operations that Oceanteam 
Shipping undertakes. The Company’s ambitions are to be 
amongst the best companies in the industry regarding 
environmental performance. Oceanteam Shipping’s deep-
water base in Dundee is ISO 14001: 2004 certified.

The quality of Oceanteam Shipping’s service, the health 
and safety of its personnel and those affected by the 
Company’s activities and the desire to minimize harm to 
the environment continues to be a prime objective.

To realize Oceanteam Shipping’s goals each team member 
views QHSE as an integral part of the working culture, it is 
further integrated into each process of the company per-
formance, its management processes and software.
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In 2012, emphasis will remain on working safely and 
increasing the safety awareness both onshore and off-
shore, and caring for the environment. Oceanteam 
Shipping has engaged 4C Offshore Ltd. in Norwich to assist 
in its QHSE management. The Company is ISO 9001:2008, 
ISO 14001:2004 and QHSAS 18001:2007 certified by DNV 
which also has been renewed in 2012.

going conSern
In accordance with the Accounting Act § 3-3a Oceanteam 
Shipping confirms that the financial statements have been 
prepared under the assumption of going concern. This 
assumption is based on income forecasts for the years 
2012 to 2013 and the Group’s long term strategic financial 
forecasts.

The Company is exposed for currency risk between US 
dollars and Norwegian Kroner connecting to the NOK 400 
million unsecured bond loan and its effect on equity cove-
nants. Approximate two thirds of the revenue in the Group 
is US Dollars while one third is in EUR. The dividend stream 
up to the parent company Oceanteam Shipping ASA will be 
in different currencies compared to the bond costs on the 
balance sheet of the parent company.

The Company assumes its ability to refinance the bond 
loan within 19th June 2014 and its vessel loans when the 
balloon instalments are effective. 

The revaluation premium of USD 83,2 million which is the 
difference between the historical costs and the fair market 
values which have increased during the year due to the 
increased demand in the market.

For a more detailed description of risks see the Risk  
section of this report and in the notes three and four of  
the consolidated financial statements.

accounting principleS
The consolidated financial statement of Oceanteam 
Shipping has been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), while 
the parent company Oceanteam Shipping ASA has been 
prepared by Norwegian General Accepted Accounting 
Principles (NGAAP).

coMMentS relateD to the financial 
StateMentS
The Company’s financial figures for 2009 were strongly 
impacted by the disputes and losses of the contracting 
business, project delays and by effects from the operational 
and financial restructuring of the Company. During 2010 
the management stabilized the company by increasing the 
order backlog and starting new partnerships. Ending 2011 
the operational restructuring of the company was completed. 
The CSV vessel broker valuations did increase during 2011 
compared to the lowest values around Q3 2009.

operationS
The revenue for the Group has increased to USD 61.2 mil-
lion in 2011 from USD 46.9 million in 2010 which gives an 
increase of 30 percent. The increase has been caused by 
the increased activities in the Engineering division and also 
the full operation for the CSV Southern Ocean for the year. 
This combination with a relative decrease in operational 
expenses and other general administrative costs have 
given an increase in EBITDA of 45 percent. EBITDA of USD 
24.8 million in 2011 has increased from the USD 17 milion 
in 2010.

The financial costs consists of the interest on the  
various vessels loans and also an accrual related to the 
step up call premium for the unsecured bond loan. The  
foreign exchange results are affected by the fluctuations  
in the currencies EUR and NOK against the USD  
reporting currency.

Oceanteam Shipping has significant approved tax losses 
from exiting the contracting business of which a small 
part has been capitalized. The changed deferred tax line 
is related to the placement of the “CSV North Ocean 102” 
outside the Norwegian tonnage tax regime where the tax 
effect on the revaluated amount is included in Tax on com-
prehensive income.

The net result from discontinued operations amounted to 
positive USD 670.000 for 2011 related to an adjustment 
of companies provisions for exit of the contracting busi-
ness due to a settlement reached with a major renewables 
operator during the second half of 2011.
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The positive trend for the Group has given a profit for the 
year 2011 with USD 2.6 million compared to USD 209.000 
for 2010. The board and the management are satisfied 
with the positive development of the company.

inveStMentS
For the year 2011 the Group shows investments totalof 
USD 13,7 million and disposals of USD 10.5 million, which 
is the balance of investments in “CSV Bourbon Oceanteam 
101” crane upgrades in the first quarter of 2011 and the 
sale of the CLB Oceanteam Installer in the third quarter of 
2011.

The Group’s liquidity reserve as of the 31 December 2011 
amounted to USD 11.6 million, of which approx. EUR 1.4 
million and USD 1 million was restricted or pledged as col-
lateral under various guarantee arrangements. During 2011 
EUR 2.5 million of pledged cash has been released.

The construction contract of “Lay Vessel North Ocean 105” 
is fully financed through a hedged US dollar loan and the 
vessel has been delivered successfully on the 20th April 
2012 after which it commenced a five year charter.

BonD loan reStructuring
The nominal bond loan of NOK 400 million was restruc-
tured in 2009 according to an agreed restructuring plan 
with the bondholders. The restructured bond loan has 4 
step ups of call premiums with the first increase applicable 
from 19th June 2011. In accordance to the balance sheet 
date the accrued call premium was NOK 41.8 million. The 
interest is NIBOR plus the margin of 3.75% where the 
margin will increase 100 basis points per anniversary from 
December 2010. On balance sheet date the margin was 
5.75% plus NIBOR.

The time line to call the bond loan is before 19th June 
2014 and the connected warrants scenarios are described 
below:

The first scenario, 148,986,069 warrants were issued to 
bondholders (Warrants I) which is activated when the com-
pany calls the bond loan. Each warrant gives the right to 
subscribe for one share for NOK 0.10. The Warrants I will 
create NOK 14,986,000 in new equity. As of today, OTS has 
150,788,393 shares. The exercise of Warrants I will thus 
result in an almost doubling of the number of shares in the 

company to approx. 300 million shares.

The second scenario, if the bond loan is not called by June 
2014, this activates Warrants II consisting of 295,996,677 
warrants, where 1 warrant can be equal to 1 share. The 
owners of Warrants II must exercise them in the period 
June 30th to July 14th 2014, and pay NOK 0.10 for each 
new share. The 295,996,677 new shares will give the  
company NOK 29.599,000 in new equity.

Hence, the overall structure of the bond loan gives the 
company such strong incentives for refinancing that if the 
loan is not refinanced by June 30th 2014, it will be because 
of uncertainty regarding continued operations.

OTS may at any time be called to pay part or all of the  
loan. The company works actively to refinance as soon as 
possible, both to eliminate the Warrants II scenario which 
the company perceives is putting a damper on the stock 
price, and because the structure of the current bond loan  
prevents using equity to finance future growth.

financing anD capital Structure
The shares at Oslo Stock Exchange are priced at NOK 0.50 
per 12th April 2012 which gives a market valuation of 
the company of NOK 75,4 million taking into account the 
shares volume of 150 million shares. The booked equity is 
significantly above the company’s share markets value. The 
view of the company is that the booked value is a better 
reflection than the real values.

The company is working on changing the capital structure 
and such to exercise the warrants type I of 149 million 
warrants. The subscription price is NOK 0.10 for each war-
rant, but releasing the warrant I will in the company’s view 
unlock the real values in the company which should be also 
reflected in the share prices.

Oceanteam Shipping is working with its advisors Pareto/ 
SpareBanken 1 Markets to refinance both the secured debt 
and the bond loan.

During the last year the share price has been below NOK 
1 and therefore the company needs to merge the issued 
shares. This will also lead to merge in 2012 warrants  
type I and II in the same ratio as the merged shares.
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The company’s view is that unlocking the warrant situation 
will increase future shares values and its liquidity. There 
are no restrictions in the company’s articles of associations 
for trading the shares.

Balance Sheet
The effects of applying the revaluation model in 2011 
amounted to USD 83.2 million, consisting of the vessels 
“CSV Bourbon Oceanteam Shipping 101” and “CSV North 
Ocean 102”, “CSV Southern Ocean” and “Lay Vessel North 
Ocean 105” which was delivered 20th April 2012.

Total Assets at the years end amounted to USD 273.5 
million, compared to USD 270.5 million in the prior year, 
reflecting the stabilizing through the improved results for 
the company during 2011.

Equity as a percentage of Total Assets was 41% as of 31 
December 2011, compared to 38% as of 31 December 
2010. Per 31 December 2011 the company complied with 
all its loan covenants and the company increased the equity 
compared to the 35% equity covenant in the bond loan 
agreement. The positive trend in the equity development 
also secures that the company to be compliant as it moves 
forward while protecting the company from currency vari-
ances between the Norwegian Kroner and the US Dollar.

caSh flow
Net cash flow from operating activities amounted to USD 
6.9 million in 2011 compared to USD 3.6 million in 2010.

Net cash flow from investing activities was negative USD 
3.5 million in 2011 against negative 17.8 million in the  
preceding year. The sale of some equipment has released  
a positive cash amount of USD 10.5 million.

Net cash flow from financing activities amounted to nega-
tive USD 4.2 million and is related to repayment of debt of 
total USD 13 million and the sale of unsecured bond assets 
of total USD 5.3 million, against the negative USD 11.2 mil-
lion previous years related to the repayments of debt. Net 
change in cash and equivalents were negative USD 1.9 mil-
lion in 2011 compared to negative USD 21 million in 2010.

parent coMpany
The parent company showed a profit of NOK 36.2 million 

for 2011. The positive result was attributable to dividends 
from joint venture companies of NOK 68.5 million. The 
parent company’s share capital per end 2011 amounted 
to NOK 7.5 million with a total equity of NOK 217 million. 
Oceanteam Shipping ASA has had an internal merger 
concluded in the fourth quarter 2011 which simplifies the 
dividend stream up from the joint vessels companies and 
subsidiaries going forward.

riSk
A number of risk factors may adversely affect Oceanteam 
Shipping ASA in the future. Please note that the risks 
below are not the only risks that may affect Oceanteam 
Shipping’s business or the value of the shares. Additional 
risks not presently known to the Board or considered 
immaterial may also effect its business operations and 
prospects.

During 2011 the company has decreased the risk with 
a restructured balance sheet and with the company’s 
refocus on Shipping and Engineering. The operations 
have improved during the year which has resulted in 
an improvement of the company’s financial results. 
Fluctuations in exchange rates between US dollars and 
Norwegian Kroner can however affect the minimum market 
equity covenants of 35 percent. For more information on 
risk it is referred to the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements: Note 3 Financial Risk Management.

Market riSk
Market risk includes risk of fluctuation in oil prices, politi-
cal, economical risk and other uncertainties, increased 
competition, and risk of war, other armed conflicts and 
terrorist attacks. The deteriorated financial climate has 
lead to delays in projects in both the oil and gas and 
renewable industries which might make it more difficult 
to obtain attractive contracts for the construction sup-
port vessels and fast support vessels. Also the demand for 
cable installation equipment and engineering services may 
be affected by the economic circumstances.

The current situation with the Company’s main assets, the 
construction support vessels is as follows. “CSV Bourbon 
Oceanteam 101” has a firm time charter contract ending 
February 2014 plus two year options. “CSV North Ocean 
102” will be on charter with Eastern Marine Services  
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(J. Ray McDermott) until mid 2015. “CSV Southern Ocean” 
will be on a three year bare boat contract with Fugro until 
the end of 2015. The “Lay Vessel North Ocean 105” com-
mences a five year time charter contract on 20th April 2012.

The charter rates for the vessels are not disclosed due to 
commercial reasons.

operational riSk
Operational risks include time charter and bare boat 
contracts, service life and technical risk of vessels, the 
Company’s limited operating history, risk for substantial 
responsibilities, the Company’s ability to retain senior 
management and key personnel, risk for legal proceedings 
and contractual disputes, construction risk and employ-
ment risk for the vessels and equipment. By securing long 
term contracts for the main assets for the Group, the risk 
has decreased from previous years.

financial riSk
The company is exposed to financial risk in different areas. 
Financial risks include interest rate and currency fluctua-
tions, investment and trading risks in general, borrowing 
and leverage and risk in connection with the vessels under 
construction / Spanish tax lease. The company has sales 
revenues and liabilities in foreign currencies and is exposed 
to currency risks. This risk is particularly relevant for the 
liabilities in Norwegian Kroner and revenue and liabilities in 
the EURO and its fluctuations with US dollars.

The company is exposed to changes in interest rates as the 
bulk of its debt has floating rates. The LV North Ocean 105 
building contract is fully financed in USD where the loan is 
hedged in EURO and the interest is fixed.

The objective of the Company is to reduce the financial risk 
as much as possible. Current strategy does not include the 
use of financial instruments, but is largely based on natural 
hedging where income streams and costs are matched for 
the various projects. This is, however, continuously being 
assessed by the Board of Directors.

Oceanteam Shipping’s balance sheet is leveraged with 
approximate USD 146 million in noncurrent liabilities 
including its first year’s instalments.

liquiDity riSk
At the years end the working capital and cash balance of 
the company were stabilized. Oceanteam Shipping is work-
ing to secure and strengthen its liquidity position through 
a refinancing process. The parent company is depending 
on liquidity flows from Subsidiaries and the Joint Venture 
companies. In 2011 there is estimated a dividend of NOK 
126 million to be paid out in 2012.

As of 31 December 2011 the Company has a few  
insurance issues exiting from the Renewable Power 
Contracting Business of which the main part has been 
settled in April 2012 where the company has had  
EUR 1.8 million received in liquidity.

Overdue outstanding receivables at the closing of the 
accounts for the 2011 financial year are approx. EUR 1 mil-
lion. A provision of one third has been taken into account 
in 2011.

As of 31 December and at the closing of the accounts for 
the 2011 financial year the report for Oceanteam Shipping 
ASA complies with all its loan covenants. The refinancing 
process will continue to focus on harmonizing its loan  
covenants in 2012.

eventS after the Balance Date
“CSV Bourbon Oceanteam 101” has formalized a 3 years 
firm contract with 2x1 years options with the Oceaneering 
for BP Angola. The CSV Southern Ocean has secured an 
extension of a 2 years bare boat until December 2015 with 
its current client Fugro – TSMarine in Australia. The LV 
North Ocean 105 has been delivered 20th April 2012 and 
she has started on a five year time charter contract.

Oceanteam Shipping ASA has taken delivery of its new OTS 
1250t modular carousel systems on the 19th April 2012. 
The system has completed its trials and is mobilized for 
Visser & Smit Marine Contractors in The Netherlands for a 
minimum of 200 days onboard Solstad Offshore ASA’s CSV 
Normand Flower for Offshore Renewables Operations in 
the Southern North Sea.
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inforMation in accorDance with the 
SecuritieStraDing act § 5-8a
With reference to the Accounting Act § 3-3a, paragraph 
fourteen, cf. the Securities Trading Act § 5-8a, the follow-
ing is stated. There are no restrictions in the company’s 
articles of association on the free trade of the company’s 
shares. No employees have any rights to shares or share 
options.The company is not aware of any agreements 
between shareholders that restrict the ability to transfer  
or exercise voting rights for shares. No proposed takeover 
bid involving the company exist, and thus none of the  
company’s contracts are affected by any such offer.

corporate governance
The statement of Corporate Governance has been com-
piled as a separate document in the annual report, titled 
Corporate Governance Policy, and can be found on page 17 
through 23. The document describes risk and internal con-
trol related to financial reporting

2011 reSult anD equity
The consolidated accounts show a profit of USD 2.6 mil-
lion. The consolidated equity is USD 112.9 million. The 
equity ratio as a percentage of Total Assets is 41.3 % as 
of 31 December 2011. The equity in the parent company 
Oceanteam Shipping ASA is NOK 217.031.000 where  
NOK 7.539.000 is share capital.

DiStriButaBle equity
As of 31 December 2011 Oceanteam ASA has a distribut-
able equity as decided by the Norwegian Public Limited 
Companies Act, of NOK 147.9 million. There are covenants 
in the loan agreements that put restrictions to distribute 
equity.

allocation of net incoMe
The board proposes the following allocation of the net 
result:

parent company
oceanteam 
shipping AsA

NoK '000

net profit/ (loss) 36 209

Attributable to:
Other equity 36 209
total allocation: 36 209

consolidated accounts:
oceanteam 
Group

UsD '000

total comprehensive income 10 879

Attributable to:
Other equity  2 411 
Revaluation reserve  8 005 
non controlling interest  463 

 10 879 
 

hessel halbesma  ronald p. moolenaar catharina petronella Johanna pos haico halbesma 
chairman and Director Director   Director    ceo   
        

Bergen/ norway, 27. april 2012
the Board of Directors oceanteam shipping AsA
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confirmAtion from the boArd of directorS And ceo

We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, that the financial statements for the period 1 January to 31 
December 2011 have been prepared in accordance with current applicable accounting standards, and give a true  
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial positions and profit or loss of the entity and the group taken as a 
whole. We also confirm that the Board of Directors` Report includes a true and fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and the position of the entity and the group, together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties facing the entity and the group.

hessel halbesma  ronald p. moolenaar catharina petronella Johanna pos haico halbesma 
chairman and Director Director   Director    ceo   
        

Bergen/ norway, 27. april 2012
the Board of Directors oceanteam shipping AsA
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1 introduction
1.1 BackgrounD
Oceanteam Shipping ASA (“Oceanteam” or the “Company”) 
is established and registered in Norway and must comply 
with Norwegian law, including corporate and securities 
laws and regulations. The Company’s aim is to comply 
with all applicable laws and regulations, as well as the 
Norwegian guidelines on Corporate Governance (Norsk 
anbefaling for eierstyring og selskapsledelse).

The Board of Directors adopted the first Corporate 
Governance Policy (the “Policy”) on 30 october 2006 to 
reflect and underline the Company’s commitment to good 
corporate governance. Following amendments to the 
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance (the 
“Code”) issued by the Norwegian Corporate Governance 
Board (NCGB) the Policy was revised on 20 August 2009, 
15 March 2010, 16 December 2010 and 15 December 
2011. The Policy is primarily based on the Code and  
purports to provide a complete summary of the Company’s 
corporate governance and management. It is intended 
as a tool to maintain good relations and trust with the 
Company’s different interest groups. In furtherance of this 
goal, the Board has also adopted a Code on Board and 
Management Proceedings, and an Insider Trading Policy. In 
accordance with the Code, The Policy (as from time to time 
revised and updated) is published within the Company’s 
annual report.

1.2 purpoSe
This Policy includes the measures implemented for the 
purpose of clarifying the division of roles between the 
shareholders, the board of directors and the executive 
management more comprehensively than what follows 
from applicable legislation, and ensuring an efficient  
management of and control over the Company’s opera-
tions. The main goal is to have systems for communication, 
monitoring, accountability and incentives that enhance and 
maximise corporate profit, the long-term health and over-
all success of the business, and the shareholders’ return on 
their investment. The development of and improvements 
on the Company’s corporate governance is a continuous 
and important process, to which the Board and the  
management will devote a strong focus.

1.3 regulatory fraMework
The Company is a Norwegian public limited liability  
company listed on Oslo Børs (the Oslo Stock Exchange).

The Company is subject to the corporate governance 
requirements set out in the Norwegian Public Companies 
Act 1997 (the NCA), the Norwegian Securities Trading 
Act of 2007 (the STA) and the Norwegian Stock Exchange 
Regulations (the SER).

Any deviations from the guidelines provided in the Code 
will be explained in this Policy document, in accordance 
with the “comply or explain” principle of the guidelines. 
The status of compliance in respect of each recommen-
dation provided in the Code will also be set out in the 
Company’s annual report.

1.4 ManageMent of the coMpany
Management and control of the Group is shared between 
the shareholders, represented in the General Meeting, the 
Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) 
according to applicable company law. The Company has 
an external independent auditor elected by the General 
Meeting.

2 the boArd of directorS
2.1 role
Oceanteam shall be directed by an effective Board with 
collective responsibility for the success of the Company. 
The Board represents, and is accountable, to the share-
holders of the Company.

The Board of Directors’ duties shall include the strategic 
guidance of the Company, an effective monitoring of the 
senior management, the control and monitoring of the 
financial situation of the Company and the Company’s 
accountability towards and communication to its share-
holders.

The Board shall ensure that the Company is well organised 
and that its operations are carried out in accordance with 
all applicable laws and regulations, in accordance with 
the objects of the Company pursuant to its Articles of 
Association, and with guidelines given by the shareholders 
through resolutions in general meetings from time to time.

corporAte GoverNANce 
poLicy
aDopteD By itS BoarD of DirectorS on 30 octoBer 2006
reviSeD verSion aDopteD on 20 auguSt 2009, 15 March 2010, 16 DeceMBer 2010 anD 15 DeceMBer 2011.

5 Directors Report

 corporate Governance policy

25 Financial Statements Group

77 Financial Statements Parent

101 Auditors Report

105 Oceanteam Shipping Assets
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In order to ensure efficient and thorough working  
procedures, the Board may appoint one or more working 
committees to prepare matters for final decision by the 
Board as a whole. The appointment, composition and man-
date of such committees shall be made in due consideration 
of issues such as the nature of the matter or project at 
hand, and the particular skills required (if any) to enlighten 
all aspects of the matter in the best possible manner.

Within a working committee, its members may delegate 
among themselves specific tasks. If the load of work and 
the particular skills required for a certain matter or project 
are found to be such that it would not be reasonably  
compensated within an ordinary directors’ remuneration, 
or if work is to be assigned to any company associated with 
a director, the committee shall present the issue to the 
Board and seek its approval before any additional work is 
carried out or any assignments made. Further reference  
is made to section 3.1.

According to the Code (section 9) companies are  
recommended to appoint board committees composed of 
independent board members only in order to help ensure 
thorough and independent preparation of matters relat-
ing to financial reporting and compensation paid to the 
members of the executive management. At this point in 
time no such committee has been established, mainly due 
to the fact that the board currently only has and in the 
foreseeable future most likely will only have between 3 
and 5 members. Nevertheless, matters to be resolved by 
the board are regularly prepared by one or more board 
members in cooperation with the management on a formal 
basis.

The Board shall initiate such investigations as it deems 
necessary in order to carry out its responsibilities. The 
Board shall also initiate such investigations as demanded 
by one or more Board Members.

2.2 financial control
2.2.1 SuperviSion
The Board shall ensure that it is updated on the financial 
situation of the Company and has a duty to ensure that the 
Company’s operations, accounting and asset management 
are subject to satisfactory control, and the Members of the 
Board have full and free access to officers, employees and 

the books and records of the Company. The Board shall 
ensure that the CEO reports monthly to the Board on the 
financial situation of the Company.

2.2.2 aDequate capitaliSation
The Board shall evaluate whether the Company’s capital 
and liquidity are adequate with respect to the risks and the 
scope of the Company’s operations at all times and whether 
it fulfils the minimum requirements established by law or 
regulation. The Board shall immediately take adequate 
steps should it be apparent at any time that the Company’s 
capital or liquidity is less than adequate.

If he Board of directors requests the general Meeting to 
issue a power to increase the share capital, the board will 
ensure that that the increase is designated to a specific 
purpose. If several purposes are of relevance, each purpose 
should be dealt with separately in the General Meeting.

2.3 coMpoSition
2.3.1 nuMBer of DirectorS
The Board of Directors shall have between three and nine 
directors including Chairman of the Board, cf § 5 in the 
Company’s articles of association.

The Company has currently no employee representatives 
on its Board of Directors.

2.3.2 inDepenDent DirectorS
Oceanteam shall have a majority of directors that are 
independent from its management and main business part-
ners, and no representatives of the management shall be 
Members of the Board. Further, the Board of Directors shall 
include at least two directors that are independent of the 
Company’s major shareholders, i.e. shareholders holding 
more than 10 % of the shares.

Independence shall for these purposes mean that there 
are no circumstances or relationships that are likely to 
affect or could appear to affect the director’s independent 
judgement. The test of independence includes whether the 
independent director:

•	 has been an employee of the Company in a senior posi-
tion for the last five years
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•	 has received or receives additional remuneration from 
the Company apart from director’s fee or participates in 
the Company’s share option or performance related pay 
scheme

•	 has for the last three years had a material and regular 
business relationship with the Company

•	 has close family ties with any of the Company’s directors 
or senior employees

•	 has for the last three years been a partner or employee 
of the accounting firm that currently audits the Company

The Directors of the Board are encouraged to hold shares 
in the Company.

2.4 appointMent anD terMination – 
noMination anD reMuneration coMMittee
The directors are appointed by the shareholders in a general 
meeting for a period of two years. The general meeting also 
elects the Chairman of the Board. The shareholders in a 
general meeting can resolve to remove directors.

At the present time, the Company has chosen not to  
operate a Nomination and Remuneration Committee, which 
deviates from section 7 and 9 of the Code. However, the 
General Meeting may at any time resolve that the Company 
shall operate a combined Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, and The Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee shall then be laid down in the Company’s  
articles of association. The Committee shall consist of 
three members out of which one shall be a director of 
the Board and two shall be independent of the Company 
(i.e. not be a director or employee and otherwise fulfil the 
criteria of independence set out in above). The members 
of the committee shall be elected by the shareholders in 
a general meeting and the General Meeting shall set out 
guidelines for the Committee.

The Committees (if and when appointed) shall make  
recommendations to the general meeting on the appoint-
ment and removal of directors. The Committee shall work 
towards a composition of the Board where due consider-
ation is taken to commitment to shareholders return,  
independence and experience in the relevant sectors.

The board will, to the extent possible, ensure that, in  
matters of a certain substance where the chairman is or 
has been actively involved prior to the board meeting (such 
as acquisitions, mergers etc.), another board member will 
be appointed to chair the board meeting during the board’s 
review of such matters, regardless of whether or not the 
chairman might be considered disqualified pursuant to § 
6-27 of the NCA.

2.5 proceeDingS
More detailed provisions on the role, the proceedings and 
confidentiality obligations of the Board of Directors and  
the CEO are set out in a separate document on Procedure 
for the Board of Directors and CEO.

This code has been adopted by the Board on 30 october 
2006.

2.6 annual evaluation
The Board will annually, in connection with the first board 
meeting in each calendar year, evaluate its performance 
in the previous year. The evaluation shall include its own 
performance, the performance of the sub-committees and 
the performance of the individual directors. In order for the 
evaluation to be effective, the Board shall set objectives, 
on both a collective and individual level, against which their 
performance can be measured. The results of the evalu-
ation shall not be made available to the public, but to the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee if appointed 
pursuant to section 2.4.

2.7 riSk ManageMent anD internal control
The Board shall ensure that the company has sound inter-
nal control and systems for risk management that are 
appropriate in relation to the extent and nature of the 
company’s activities. Internal control and the systems shall 
encompass the company’s corporate values and guidelines 
for ethical and corporate social responsibility. The Board 
will carry out an annual review of the company’s most 
important areas of exposure to risk and its internal control 
arrangements. The Board will provide an account in the 
annual report of the main features of the company’s inter-
nal control and risk management systems as they relate to 
the company’s financial reporting.
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3 remunerAtion of directorS And 
mAnAgement
3.1 reMuneration of DirectorS
The remuneration of the directors shall be determined by the 
shareholders in a general meeting and be disclosed in the 
annual accounts of the Company. Any remuneration in addi-
tion to normal director’s fee shall be specifically identified.

If appointed pursuant to section 2.4, the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to  
the general meeting in respect of annual remuneration  
of all directors.

The Directors, or companies to whom they are associ-
ated, shall not accept other appointments or engagements 
for the Company, with out the Board’s knowledge. In such 
cases the terms of appointment, including any remunera-
tion shall be approved of by the Board.

The remuneration of the board of directors shall not be 
linked to the company’s performance and the company 
shall not grant share options to members of its board.

Directors shall be encouraged to invest part of their  
remuneration in shares in the company at market price.

3.2 reMuneration of ManageMent
The Board shall adopt guidelines for remuneration to 
management employees. The general meeting shall be 
informed of the guidelines.

Remuneration to the CEO shall be determined by  
the Board in meeting.

All elements of remuneration to the CEO, and the total 
remuneration for management shall appear from the 
annual report.

3.3 Severance payMentS
No employees of the Group shall have employment con-
tracts granting notice periods of more than 12 months.

4 diScloSure And trAnSpArency
4.1 general
The Company shall at all times provide its shareholders, 
Oslo Børs and the financial markets generally (through 

Oslo Børs’ information system) with timely and accurate 
information. Such information will take the form of annual 
reports, quarterly interim reports, press releases, stock 
exchange notifications and investor presentations, as 
applicable. The Company shall seek to clarify its long-term 
potential, including its strategy, value drivers and risk  
factors. The Company shall maintain an open and proactive 
investor relations policy, a best-practice website and shall 
give presentations regularly in connection with annual and 
interim results.

Generally, the Company shall disclose all insider informa-
tion. The Company will under all circumstances disclose 
certain events including, without limitation, board and 
shareholder resolutions regarding dividends, mergers/
de-mergers or changes in share capital, issue of warrants, 
convertible loans and all agreements of material impor-
tance that are entered into between group companies  
or related parties.

4.2 coMMunication with ShareholDerS
The Chairman and other directors shall make themselves 
available for discussions with the major shareholders to 
develop a balanced understanding of the issues and  
concerns of such shareholders, subject always to the  
provisions of the NCA, the STA and the SER. The Chairman 
shall ensure that the views of shareholders are communi-
cated to the entire Board.

Information given to the Company’s shareholders shall 
simultaneously be made available on the Company’s web 
site.

5 fAir treAtment of ShAreholderS
5.1 general
The Board shall take into account the interest of all the 
shareholders of the Company and treat all sharehold-
ers fairly. There is and will remain to be only one class of 
shares and all shares are and will remain freely transfer-
rable.

5.2 approval of agreeMentS with 
ShareholDerS anD other relateD partieS
All transactions that are not immaterial between the 
Company and a shareholder, a director or senior manager 
of the Company (or related parties to such persons) will 
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be subject to a valuation from an independent third party. 
If the consideration exceeds 5 % of the Company’s share 
capital such transactions shall be approved by the share-
holders in a general meeting, to the extent required by the 
NCA Section 3-8.

The directors and senior management shall notify the 
Board if they have any material direct of indirect interest in 
any transaction entered into by the Company.

6 Audit
Under Norwegian law, the Company’s auditor is elected by 
the shareholders in a general meeting.

The Board shall make recommendations to the general 
meeting on the auditor’s appointment, removal and remu-
neration and shall also monitor the auditor’s independence, 
including the performance by the auditor of any non-audit 
work. The Board will at least once a year have a meeting 
with the auditor without the presence of any representa-
tives from the management. In the Management Code, the 
Board has adopted guidelines for the management’s use  
of the Company’s auditor for non-audit work.

The Board will inform the shareholders in the Annual 
General Meeting (the “AGM”) on the auditor’s fees  
specified on audit and non-audit work respectively.

In accordance with the Code the Company has established 
an Audit Committee. The Committee was established 30 
June 2010. The Audit Committee is composed and  
operates in accordance with the recommendations set  
out in the Code.

The auditor shall annually present a plan for the auditing 
work to the Audit Committee and have at least one annual 
meeting with the committee to go through the Company’s 
internal control systems and to identify possible weak-
nesses and potential areas of improvement.

7 dividend policy
Oceanteam’s objective is to yield a competitive return on 
invested capital to the shareholders through a combina-
tion of distribution of dividends and increase in share 
value. In evaluating the amount of dividend, the Board of 
Directors places emphasis on certainty, foreseeability and 

stable development, the Company’s dividend capacity, the 
requirements for sound and optimal equity capital as well 
as for adequate financial resources to enable future growth 
and investments, and the ambition to minimize the cost of 
capital.

The Company is currently in the process of restructuring 
its balance sheet and of reorganising its business activities 
and hence expects to distribute only limited if any divi-
dends during the next few years.

8 ShAreholder meetingS
The shareholders represent the ultimate decision-making 
body of Oceanteam through the general meetings.

The AGM of the Company will be held each year within the 
end of May. The AGM shall approve the annual accounts 
and report and the distribution of dividend, and otherwise 
make such resolutions as required under the applicable 
laws and regulations.

The Board of Directors may convene an extraordinary 
general meeting whenever it deems appropriate or when 
otherwise such meetings are required by the applicable 
laws or regulations. The Company’s auditor and any share-
holder or group of shareholder representing more than 5 % 
of the current issued and outstanding share capital of the 
Company may require that the Board of Directors convene 
an EGM.

The Board will make arrangements to ensure that as many 
shareholders as possible are enabled to exercise their 
shareholders rights by attending the general meetings, 
and that the general meetings become an active arena for 
meetings between the board of directors and the share-
holders by inter alia:

•	 Posing the summons together with the agenda and all 
documents pertaining to each matter on the agenda on 
the Company’s web-page not later than on the 21st day 
prior to the date of the meeting (except when otherwise 
decided by the general meeting, cf NCA section 5-11b) 
irrespective of whether or not the company also resolves 
to summon the meeting by way of other forms of com-
munication mail, facsimile or other electronic means 
(e-mail), ref § 7 in the Company’s articles of association.
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•	 Posing in the same manner on the web-page information 
about the total number of shares and voting rights at the 
date of the summons, as well as any draft resolutions, 
or if the meeting is not required to pass a resolution, a 
statement from the board in respect of each item on the 
agenda, and any forms required to be used in order to 
vote by proxy or by letter, unless such forms have been 
submitted directly to each shareholder.

•	 Ensure that the shareholders are adequately informed 
about their right to vote by proxy and of the procedures 
to be observed in doing so.

•	 Ensure that the summons, the documents and any  
further supporting material is sufficiently detailed and  
comprehensive in order for the shareholders to under-
stand and form an opinion on the matters at hand.

•	 Ensure that the summons will specify that any share-
holder wishing to attend the general meeting must 
notify the company within a certain time limit stated in 
the notice, which must not expire earlier than five days 
before the general meeting, ref § 7 of the Company’s 
articles of association. Shareholders failing to notify the 
company within the specified time limit may be denied 
entrance to the general meeting.

•	 Ensure that the shareholders’ are adequately informed 
about their right to submit proposals to be resolved by 
the general meeting, cf NCA § 5-11 and that proposal 
which are received within 7 days prior to the date of the 
summons are included in the summons. If the summons 
has already been sent, new summons shall be issued 
provided that the deadline for summoning has not been 
exceeded.

•	 Ensure that all other applicable provisions of the NCA, 
the Regulation on shareholders meetings of 6. July 2009 
no 983 (“Generalforsamlingsforskriften”) and section 5-9 
of the Securities Trading Act are observed and complied 
with.

The Company will publish the minutes from general meet-
ings on its web-site within 15 days from the date of the 
meeting and will also keep them available for inspection at 
the Company’s offices.

The Board will not make contact with shareholders of the 
Company outside the general meeting in a way that may 
unfairly discriminate between the shareholders or infringe 
on any applicable laws or regulations.

The Board shall adopt procedures that ensure an independent 
chairing of the general meeting.

The directors, the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee if appointed, and the auditor shall attend the 
general meetings.

9 chAnge of control, tAKeoverS
9.1 general
The shares in Oceanteam are freely transferable, and the 
Company shall not establish any mechanisms that may 
hinder a takeover or deter takeover-bids, unless this has 
been resolved in a general meeting by a two-third majority 
(of votes cast and share capital represented). However, the 
Board may, in the case of a takeover-bid, take such actions 
that evidently are in the best interest of the shareholders, 
such as, inter alia, advising the shareholders in the  
assessment of the bid and, if appropriate, seeking to  
find a competing bidder (“white knight”).

In the event of a take-over bid for the Company’s shares, 
the Company’s Board of directors shall issue a statement 
including a recommendation as to whether shareholders  
shall or shall not accept the offer. If the Board finds itself 
unable to give a recommendation to shareholders on 
whether or not to accept the offer, it shall explain the 
background for not making such a recommendation. The 
Board’s statement on a bid shall make it clear whether 
the views expressed are unanimous, and if this is not the 
case it shall explain the basis on which specific members 
of the Board have excluded themselves from the Board’s 
statement. The Board shall arrange a valuation from an 
independent expert. The valuation shall be published and 
explained at the latest at the same time as the Board’s 
statement.

9.2 overview of norwegian Statutory 
proviSionS on takeoverS
9.2.1 voluntary offer
An offer to acquire shares in Oceanteam which, if accepted, 
trigger an obligation to put forward a mandatory offer 
must be made in an offer document and according to 
the requirements for voluntary offers set forth in the 
Norwegian Securities Act.
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9.2.2 ManDatory offer
Subject to certain exceptions, a mandatory offer has to be 
made in the event an acquiror (together with any concert 
parties) acquires more than 33 %, 40% or 50% of the voting 
shares in the Company.

The requirement to make a mandatory offer is triggered 
when a purchaser becomes the owner of such percentage 
of the shares. A mandatory offer must be made within four 
weeks after the threshold was passed. The only alternative to 
a mandatory offer at this stage is to sell a sufficient number 
of shares to fall below the relevant threshold.

All shareholders must be treated equally and the price to be 
paid is the higher of (i) the highest price paid by the purchaser 
during the last six months, and (ii) the market price when the 
obligation to make the mandatory offer was triggered The 
offer must be made in cash or contain a cash alternative at 
least equal in value to any non-cash offer.

9.2.3 coMpulSory acquiSition (“Squeeze out”)
Compulsory acquisition of the remaining shares may be  
initiated by a shareholder who holds more than 90 % of the 
shares and voting rights. The acquisition is initiated through 
a Board decision of the shareholder and payment of the price 
offered. Failing agreement between the parties, the price 
shall be determined through a valuation by the court, but  
the acquiror will obtain title to the shares immediately.

Bergen, 15th December 2011
the Board of Directors of oceanteam shipping AsA

hessel halbesma  ronald p. moolenaar catharina petronella Johanna pos
chairman   Director   Director
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conSolidAted StAtement of comprehenSive income

GroUp Figures in UsD ‘000
Notes 2011 2010

Revenue 61 208 46 988
total operating revenues 6 61 208 46 988

Operating costs 5 (24 651) (21 797)
Personnel cost 7 (7 875) (3 856)
Other administrative expense 8 (3 920) (4 283)
Depreciation 9, 10 (14 742) (11 577)
Reversal previous impairment 9, 10 2 098
total operating expenses (49 090) (41 513)

operating profit (loss) 12 118 5 475

Financial income 525 2 206
Financial costs 11 (13 934) (8 901)
Foreign exchange results (loss) 11 2 443 (2 385)
Net finance (10 965) (9 080)

ordinary profit (loss) before taxes 1 153 (3 605)

Income tax 12 806 4 591

Net result from continuing operations 1 959 987

Net result from discontinued operations 6 670 (778)

profit for the year 2 629 209

other comprehensive income

Changes in revaluation model 10 9 228 28 425
Other comprehensive income 401
Translation differences 245 (3 336)
Tax on comprehensive income (1 223) (1 913)

other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 8 250 23 577
total comprehensive income for the year 10 879 23 786

FiNANciAL 
stAteMeNts GroUp

5 Directors Report

17 Corporate Governance Policy

 Financial statements Group

77 Financial Statements Parent

101 Auditors Report

105 Oceanteam Shipping Assets
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GroUp Figures in UsD ‘000
Notes 2011 2010

profit (Loss) attributable to:
Owners of the company 2 166 (190)
Non-controlling interests 463 399
profit (loss) for the year 2 629 209

total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the company 10 416 23 387
Non - controlling interests 463 399
total comprehensive income for the year 10 879 23 786

earnings per share (in UsD)
Basic earnings per share (in USD) 26 0,02 0,00
Diluted earnings per share (in USD) 26 0,01 0,00

earnings per share - continuing operations
Basic earnings per share (in USD) 0,01 0,01
Diluted earnings per share including warrants II (in USD) 0,00 0,00
Number of shares in the period 150 788 150 788
Number of shares in the period, diluted warrants I 299 774 299 774
Number of shares in the period, diluted warrants II 446 785 446 785

conSolidAted StAtement of comprehenSive income
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GroUp Figures in UsD ‘000
Note 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Assets
Deferred tax assets 4, 12 3 831 3 831
Customer relations and design 9 2 831 4 034
Goodwill 9 12 987 12 987
intangible assets 19 649 20 852

Investment in associates 10 5 964 4 828
Vessels and equipment 10, 17 224 360 221 517
tangible assets 230 324 226 345

total non current assets 249 973 247 197

Trade receivables 13 7 258 6 299
Other receivables 13 4 536 3 525
receivables 11 794 9 824

cash and cash equivalents 14 11 638 13 501

current assets 23 432 23 325

total assets 273 405 270 523

conSolidAted StAtement of finAnciAl poSition
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GroUp Figures in UsD ‘000

Note 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

equity and liabilities
Share capital 16, 26 1 291 1 291
Other equity 16, 26 24 355 21 944
Non-controlling interest 16,26 4 065 3 602
Revaluation reserve 10 83 247 75 242
total equity 112 958 102 078

Loans and borrowings 123 315 141 694
total non-current liabilities 10,17 123 315 141 694

First year installments 10, 17 22 782 9 955
Trade payables 18 10 182 6 619
Tax payable 18 100 58
Public charges 18 176 922
Other current liabilities 18 3 892 9 195
total current liabilities 37 132 26 749

total liabilities 160 447 168 443

total equity and liabilities 273 405 270 523

conSolidAted StAtement of finAnciAl poSition

hessel halbesma  ronald p. moolenaar catharina petronella Johanna pos haico halbesma 
chairman and Director Director   Director    ceo   
        

Bergen/ norway, 27. april 2012
the Board of Directors oceanteam shipping AsA
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GroUp Figures in UsD ‘000
2011 2010

equity at period opening balance (Number of shares: 150,788,393) 102 078 78 292
Profit after taxes majority 2 166 (190)
Profit after taxes minority 463 399
Revaluation of assets 9 228 28 425
Tax on revaluation reserve (1 223) (1 913)
Translation differences 245 (3 336)
Equity in associates (2 357)
Increases in minorities 2 758
share issue
Equity issue
equity at period end (Number of shares: 150,788,393) 112 958 102 078

Subscription rights issued:

Warrants I - become active when bond loan and shareholder loans repaid before 19th June 2014:
Warrants II - become active when bond loan and shareholder loans are not repaid before 19th June 2014:

conSolidAted StAtement of chAngeS in eQuity
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consolidated statement of changes in equity Figures in UsD ‘000

2011
share 

capital
share 

premium
translation 

reserve
other 
equity

total 
other 

equity

re-
valuation 

reserve

Non con-
trolling 

interests

total 
equity

equity at 31 December 2010 1 291 61 254 2 500 (41 810) (39 310) 75 242 3 602 102 078

Profit and loss 2 166 2 166 463 2 629
Coverage of previous losses

other comprehensive income
Changes in revaluation model 9 228 9 228
Tax on revaluation reserve (1 223) (1 223)
Increased in non controlling interests
Decrease share premium to other equity (61 254) 61 254 61 254
Translation differences 245 245 245
total comprehensive income (61 254) 245 63 420 63 665 8 005 463 10 879

contributions by and 
distributions to owners
Issue of ordinary shares related to 
restructuring of debts
equity per 31 December 2011 1 291 0 2 745 21 610 24 355 83 247 4 065 112 958

2010
share 

capital
share 

premium
translation 

reserve
other 
equity

total 
other 

equity

re-
valuation 

reserve

Non con-
trolling 

interests

total 
equity

equity at 31 december 2009 1 291 61 254 8 193 (41 620) (33 427) 48 730 445 78 292

Profit and loss (190) (190) 399 209

other comprehensive income
Changes in revaluation model 28 425 28 425
Tax on revaluation reserve (1 913) (1 913)
Increased in non controlling interests 2 758 2 758
Equity in Associates (2 357) (2 357) (2 357)
Translation differences (3 336) (3 336) (3 336)
total comprehensive income (5 693) (190) (5 883) 26 512 3 157 23 786

contributions by and 
distributions to owners
Issue of ordinary shares related to 
restructuring of debts
equity per 31 December 2010 1 291 61 254 2 500 (41 810) (39 310) 75 242 3 602 102 078

conSolidAted StAtement of chAngeS in eQuity
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GroUp Figures in UsD ‘000
2011 2010

ordinary profit (loss) before taxes 1 153 (3 605)
Depreciation and amortization of tangible assets 14 742 11 577
Tax paid 137 (7)
Write off assets (2 098)
Change in trade receivables (959) (1 317)
Change in other receivables (1 011) 11 754
Change in trade payables 3 563 2 032
Change in other accruals (12 651) (10 726)
Interest bank loans 10 871 8 319
Paid interest Bank Loans (6 824) (6 599)
Net cash flow from operating activities of discontinued operations * (7 775)
Net cash flow from operating activities 6 923 3 603

Purchase of tangible assets (13 961)
Proceeds from sale of tangible assets 10 481
Net cash flow from investing activities of continuing operations (17 786)
Net cash flow from investing activities (3 480) (17 786)

Proceeds from Issuance of debts (4) 8 970
Repayments of debts (13 125) (11 177)
Net cash flow from financing activities (4 155) (11 177)

Effect of changes to exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (1 151) 4 396

Net change in cash and equivalents (1 863) (20 964)

cash and equivalents at start of period 13 501 34 465

cash and equivalents at end of period (14) 11 638 13 501

* restricted cash is EUR 1.35 million and USD 1 million.

conSolidAted StAtement of cASh flow
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note 1. generAl informAtion
Oceanteam Shipping is an offshore shipping company. Oceanteam’s business is the owning, chartering and managing of 
Deepwater Offshore Construction Service - and PipeLay Vessels, Fast Support Vessels and Engineering services.

With the in-house engineering experience and expertise we ensure that our Clients contract the most effective vessel 
solution for their projects. We can provide high level assistance and give support on every aspect of the fleet we manage. 
This includes both operational- and technical support.

The Group has offices in Bergen (Norway), Ciuadad del Carmen (Mexico), Schiedam and Amsterdam (the Netherlands) and 
Monaco. The core activities for Oceanteam Shipping are operations around CSV vessels and related services.

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in Norway. The address of its registered office is 
Tveiteråsveien 12, 5232 Paradis, Norway.

The company is listed at the Oslo Stock Exchange.

These group consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 27th April 2012, 
and are based on the assumptions of ongoing concern. The Group annual accounts consist of the parent company 
Oceanteam Shipping ASA with its subsidiaries, joint venture companies and associated companies.

note 2. SummAry of SignificAnt Accounting policieS
2.1 BaSiS of preparation
The group accounts for Oceanteam Shipping ASA are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and the Norwegian Accounting Act § 3-9.

The Group’s financial statements are based on the principle of historical cost of acquisitions, construction or production, 
as modified by the revaluation model of the CSV vessels, financial assets and derivative financial instruments, which are 
reflected at fair value.

The financial year follows the calendar year. The group was established as of 5th October 2005. Income statement items 
are classified by their nature.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It 
also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) new accounting StanDarDS
At the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements the following new IFRSs and IFRICs were issued but not 
yet effective:

Amendments in IFRS 7 Financial Instruments - Disclosure
The amendments are related to disclosure requirements in relating to transfers of financial assets which the entity has a 
continuing involvement in and is intended to provide the users of the financial statement a better understanding of the 
risk exposure for the entity which is transferring the financial assets. The amendments are applicable for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2011. The Group expects to implement the amended IFRS 7 as of 1 January 2012.

Notes to the coNsoLiDAteD 
FiNANciAL stAteMeNts
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The analyses of the potential impacts on the financial statements for the Group are at the date of finalisation of these 
financial statements not yet finalised, but the Group does not expect any material impacts.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 will replace today’s IAS 39. The project has been divided into several phases. The first phase regarding the classi-
fication and measurement rules has been issued by the IASB. According to IFRS 9 financial assets with basic loan features 
shall be measured at amortised cost, unless one choose to measure these assets at fair value. All other financial assets 
shall be measured at fair value. The classification and measurement of financial liabilities under IFRS 9 is a continuation 
from IAS 39, with the exception of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option), 
where change in fair value relating to own credit risk shall be separated and shall be presented in other comprehensive 
income. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015, but the standard is not yet approved 
by the EU. Early implementation is permitted given that the EU approves the standard. The Group expects to apply IFRS 9 
as of 1 January 2015.

The analyses of the potential impacts on the financial statements for the Group are at the date of finalisation of these 
financial statements not yet finalised, but the Group does not expect any material impacts.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10 replaces the parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements which relates to the consolidated 
financial statements and SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 establishes a single control model that 
applies to all entities. The content of the control definition has been changed compared to IAS 27. The criteria for whether 
entities should be consolidated in accordance with IFRS 10, is solely based on whether the investor controls the investee. 
An investor controls an investee if and only if the investor has all the following: power over the investee; exposure, or 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and the ability to use its power over the investee to 
affect the amount of the investor’s returns. IFRS 10 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, 
but the standard is not yet approved by the EU. Early implementation is permitted given that the EU approves the stan-
dard. The Group expects to apply IFRS 10 as of 1 January 2013. The analyses of the potential impacts on the financial 
statements for the Group are at the date of finalisation of these financial statements not yet finalised, but the Group does 
not expect any material impacts.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
This standard will replace IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary 
Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 is applicable for joint arrangements and provides guidance of accounting for two 
types of joint arrangements; joint operations and joint ventures. Joint ventures shall account for the investments by using 
the equity method according to IFRS 11. Joint operations shall be recognised in relation to its interest in a joint opera-
tion. Assets and liabilities that are wholly owned by one part alone shall be fully recognized. Revenue and expenses shall 
be recognized in relation to the party’s interest. IFRS 11 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013, but the standard is not yet approved by the EU. Early implementation is permitted given that the EU approves the 
standard. The Group expects to apply IFRS 11 as of 1 January 2013. The impact on the financial statements for the Group 
cannot be reasonably estimated as at the date of the finalization of these financial statements. The group is currently 
treating the investment in joint ventures by using the proportional consolidation method which will not be applicable in 
accordance with IFRS 11. Since 3 of the CSV Vessel will be accounted for in accordance with the equity method instead of 
the proportional method, the total of equity and liabilities is anticipated to change significantly. For the total comprehen-
sive income, the group does not expect any material impact.
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IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12 is applicable for entities with interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements and associates and unconsoli-
dated structured entities. IFRS 12 replaces the disclosure requirements in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, IAS 28 Investments in Associates, and IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. In addition, several new disclosure 
requirements are introduced. IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, but the stan-
dard is not yet approved by the EU. Early implementation is permitted given that the EU approves the standard. The Group 
expects to apply IFRS 12 as of 1 January 2013. The analyses of the potential impacts on the financial statements for the 
Group are at the date of finalisation of these financial statements not yet finalised, but the Group does not expect any 
material impacts.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
The standard sets out principles and guidance for measuring fair value of assets and liabilities when fair value is required 
or permitted by other standards. IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, but the 
standard is not yet approved by the EU. Early implementation is permitted given that the EU approves the standard. The 
Group expects to apply IFRS 13 as of 1 January 2013. The analyses of the potential impacts on the financial statements 
for the Group are at the date of finalisation of these financial statements not yet finalised, but the Group does not expect 
any material impacts.

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
The amendments to IAS 1 require companies to group together items within OCI (Other Comprehensive Income) that may 
be reclassified to the profit or loss section of the income statement. The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2012, but the standard is not yet approved by the EU. Early implementation is permitted given 
that the EU approves the standard. The Group expects to apply the amended standard as of 1 January 2013. The analyses 
of the potential impacts on the financial statements for the Group are at the date of finalisation of these financial state-
ments not yet finalised, but the Group does not expect any material impacts.

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes
The amendments intend to provide a practical solution to a problem relating to investment properties that arises in cer-
tain jurisdictions. As a result of the amendments deferred tax on investment property measured at fair value is required 
to be determined using the rebuttable presumption that the carrying amount of the underlying asset will be recovered 
through sale (rather than use). The presumption is rebutted if the investment property is depreciable and it is held within 
a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits in the investment property 
over time, rather than through use. The amendments incorporate SIC 21 Income Taxes – Recovery of Revalued Non-
Depreciable Assets into IAS 12. As a result IAS 12 will require that deferred tax arising from a non-depreciable asset 
measured using the revaluation model in IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment will always be determined on a sale basis. 
The amended IAS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012, but the standard is not yet 
approved by the EU. Early implementation is permitted given that the EU approves the amendments. The Group expects 
to implement the amended IAS 12 as of 1 January 2012. The analyses of the potential impacts on the financial statements 
for the Group are at the date of finalisation of these financial statements not yet finalised, but the Group does not expect 
any material impacts.

Amendments in IAS 27 (Revised) Separate Financial Statements
As a result of introducing IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12, amendments were made in IAS 27 to coordinate it with the new 
accounting standards. IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements replaced the parts of IAS 27 that was related to con-
solidated financial statements. As such IAS 27, when effective, will only relate to separate financial statements and no 
longer be applicable for consolidated financial statements. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on 
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or after 1 January 2013, but the standard is not yet approved by the EU. Early implementation is permitted given that the 
EU approves the standard. The Group expects to apply the amended standard as of 1 January 2013. The analyses of the 
potential impacts on the financial statements for the Group are at the date of finalisation of these financial statements not 
yet finalised, but the Group does not expect any material impacts.

Amendments to IAS 28 (Revised) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
The scope of IAS 28 is now including investments in joint ventures. The standard prescribes the accounting for invest-
ments in associates and sets out the requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting for invest-
ments in associates and joint ventures. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013, but the standard is not yet approved by the EU. Early implementation is permitted given that the EU approves the 
standard. The Group expects to apply the amended standard as of 1 January 2013, The analyses of the potential impacts 
on the financial statements for the Group are at the date of finalisation of these financial statements not yet finalised, but 
the Group does not expect any material impacts, other than the effects mentioned regarding implementation of IFRS 11 
above.

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments - Presentation
IAS 32 has been amended to clarify the content in “currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off” and to clarify the 
application of the criteria for offsetting of settlement systems such as clearing house-systems that applies mechanisms 
for gross amounts that are not settled simultaneously. The amendments are applicable for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2014, but the standard is not yet approved by the EU. Early implementation is permitted given that the EU 
approves these amendments and the suggested amendments in IFRS 7 requiring disclosures of financial instruments that 
are offset. The Group expects to apply the amended standard as of 1 January 2014. The analyses of the potential impacts 
on the financial statements for the Group are at the date of finalisation of these financial statements not yet finalised, but 
the Group does not expect any material impacts.

(c) uSe of eStiMateS anD juDgMentS
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in 
any future periods affected. In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judg-
ments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 
statements is included in the following notes:

•	 Note 6 – Revenue recognition
•	 Note 9 – Intangible assets - goodwill , customer relations and impairment testing
•	 Note 10 – Tangible assets herewith component accounting, residual values and the revaluation model
•	 Note 12 – Deferred tax assets
•	 Note 18 – Provisions
•	 Note 20 – Business combinations
•	 Note 22 – Provisions

(D) coMponent accounting
When an item of vessel, plant and equipment comprises individual components for which different depreciation methods 
or rates are appropriate, each component is depreciated separately. A separate component may be either
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a physical component or a non - physical component that represents a major inspection or overhaul. An item of vessel, 
plant and equipment will be separated into parts (“components”) when those parts are significant in relation on the total 
cost of the item.

2.2 BaSiS of conSoliDation
(a) SuBSiDiarieS
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence 
and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether 
the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an 
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed 
at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, 
irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s 
share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of 
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized directly in the income statement (see Note 2.6).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealized losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies 
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(B) joint ventureS
The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for by proportional consolidation. The Group combines 
its share of the joint ventures’ individual income and expenses, assets and liabilities and cash flows on a line-by-line basis 
with similar items in the Group’s financial statements. The Group recognises the portion of gains or losses on the sale 
of assets by the Group to the joint venture that it is attributable to the other ventures. The Group does not recognize its 
share of profits or losses from the joint venture that result from the Group’s purchase of assets from the joint venture 
until it resells the assets to an independent party. However, a loss on the transaction is recognized immediately if the loss 
provides evidence of a reduction in the net realizable value of current assets, or an impairment loss.

(c)accounting for acquiSitionS of non-controlling intereStS
IAS 8.28(f) From 1 January 2010 the Group has applied IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (2008) in 
accounting for acquisitions of non-controlling interests. The change in accounting policy has been applied prospectively 
and has had no impact on earnings per share.

Under the new accounting policy, acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners 
in their capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result of such transactions. The adjustments to 
non-controlling interests are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary.

Previously, goodwill was recognised on the acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary, which represented the 
excess of the cost of the additional investment over the carrying amount of the interest in the net assets acquired at the 
date of the transaction.
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(D) aSSociateS (equity accounteD inveSteeS)
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a 
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting and are initially recognized at cost.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognized in the income statement, and its 
share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognized in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements 
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the group’s share of losses in an associate equals or 
exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the group does not recognize further 
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealized gains on transactions between the group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest 
in the associates. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the 
asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the group. Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are recognized in the income 
statement.

The net profit (loss) from the asscioates Lay Vessel North Ocean 105 is included in the revenue (operating expenses) on a 
seperate line. The vessel will be delivered in Q2 2012.

2.3 SegMent reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other compo-
nents. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Board of directors to make deci-
sions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial 
information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the Board of directors include items directly attributable to a segment as well as 
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the 
Company’s headquarters), head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities.

The operations of CSV Vessels and the operation from Engineering is reported as two segments from 2010. This is a 
change from previously reporting due to the additional focus on the engineering operations.

2.4 foreign currency tranSlation
(a) functional anD reporting currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in USD, which are the company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency in 2011.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions or valuation where items are measured at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement, except when deferred in 
equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges. Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate 
to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the income statement within ‘finance income or cost’. All 
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the income statement within ‘other (losses)/gains – net’.
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(B) tranSactionS anD BalanceS
Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available-for-sale are  
analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes 
in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to changes in amortised cost are recognised in 
profit or loss, and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit  
or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary  
financial assets such as equities classified as available-for-sale are included in the available-for-sale reserve in equity.

(c) group coMpanieS
The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) 
that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency  
as follows:

(a) Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance 
sheet;

(b) Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income 
and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions).

(c) All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of 
borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity. 
When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity are  
recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in USD. All financial information presented in USD has been rounded 
to the nearest thousand.

2.5 tangiBle aSSetS
Tangible assets are stated at historical cost and the revaluation model on CSV vessels, less depreciation and impairment. 
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed 
assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a 
working condition for its intended use. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is 
capitalised as part of that equipment.
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Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance 
are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight - line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their  
estimated useful lives, as follows:

revaluation MoDel:
•	 CSV vessels 25 years
•	 Revaluation surplus 25 years

coSt MoDel:
•	 Fast Support Vessels 15 years
•	 Machinery and equipment 10-15 years
•	 Furniture, fittings and equipment 3-8 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is  
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.1c, 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised 
within other (losses)/gains – net, in the income statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in other 
reserves are transferred to retained earnings.

coMponent accounting
When an item of vessel, plant and equipment comprises individual components for which different depreciation methods 
or rates are appropriate, each component is depreciated separately. A separate component may be either a physical  
component, or a non - physical component that represents a major inspection or overhaul.

An item of vessel, plant and equipment will be separated into parts (“components”) when those parts are significant in 
relation on the total cost of the item.

2.6 intangiBle aSSetS
(a) gooDwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the group’s share of the net identifi-
able assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in 
‘intangible assets’. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount 
of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those  
cash - generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination  
in which the goodwill arose identified according to operating segment.
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The Cash Generating Units for the Group are as follows:

•	 Each individually CSV/Lay Vessel vessels
•	 Each individually FSV vessels

•	 KCI Engineering
•	 Oceanteam Equipment pool

(B) other intangiBle aSSetS
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

(c) coMputer Software
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 
specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (3-5 years).

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as 
incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the development of identifiable and unique software products controlled 
by the Group, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as 
intangible assets. Costs include the employee costs incurred as a result of developing software and an appropriate  
portion of relevant overheads.

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives (not exceed-
ing three years).

(D) aMortization
Amortization is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value.

Amortization is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, 
other than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for the current and compara-
tive years are as follows:

•	 customer relationships 3 years

2.7 iMpairMent of non-financial aSSetS
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually 
for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in cir-
cumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the low-
est levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than 
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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2.8 receivaBleS
Receivables are recognised at fair value. A provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is objec-
tive evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, 
and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the receivable is 
impaired.

2.9 caSh anD caSh equivalentS
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid invest-
ments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings 
in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

2.10 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, 
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from equity attributable to the 
Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently reissued, any 
consideration received (net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects) 
is included in equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders.

2.11 traDe payaBleS
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

2.12 BorrowingS
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at 
amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised 
in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified 
as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the balance sheet date.

Borrowing costs are capitalised to the extent that they are directly attributable to the purchase, construction or produc-
tion of a non-current asset. Borrowing costs are capitalised when the interest costs are incurred during the non-current 
asset’s construction period. The borrowing costs are capitalised until the date when the non-current asset is ready for 
use. If the cost price exceeds the recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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2.13 tax
(a) taxeS
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in profit or loss except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred 
tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transac-
tion that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating 
to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial 
recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary dif-
ferences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, 
and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 
but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized 
simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is more likely than not that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognized at the same time as the liability to pay 
the related dividend is recognized.

(B) Shipping activitieS
The shipping activities are operated in several countries and under different tax schemes, including the ordinary tax sys-
tem in Norway and the Norwegian tonnage tax system. In addition we operate under local tax systems in Netherlands, 
Germany and Mexico. Our onshore activities are generally subject to the ordinary corporate tax rates within the country 
in which the activities are located. The variation in the tax systems and rates may cause tax costs to vary significantly 
depending on the country in which profits are accumulated and taxed. The Group’s taxes include taxes of Group compa-
nies based on taxable profit for the financial period, together with tax adjustments for previous periods and the change in 
deferred taxes. Tax credits arising from subsidiaries’ distribution of dividends are deducted from tax expenses. Deferred 
income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

•	 where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit 
nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in 
joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available to offset the temporary differences. We recognize formerly 
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unrecognized deferred tax assets to the extent that it has become probable that we can utilize the deferred tax asset. 
Similarly, the Company will reduce its deferred tax assets to the extent that it can no longer utilize these.

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid 
to or recovered from the taxation authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are recognized irrespective of when the differ-
ences will be reversed. Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are recognized at their nominal value and are classified as 
non-current liabilities (non-current assets) in the balance sheet. Companies taxed under special tax shipping tax systems 
will generally not be taxed on their net operating profit from the approved shipping activities. A portion of net financial 
income and other non-shipping activities are normally taxed at the ordinary applicable tax rate. Taxation under shipping 
tax regimes requires compliance to certain requirements, and breach of these requirements could lead to forced exit of 
the regime. A forced exit of the Norwegian shipping tax system will lead to accelerated tax payments. Tax payable and 
deferred taxes are recognized directly in equity to the extent that they relate to factors that are recognized directly in 
equity.

Parts of the group’s operations are structured in accordance with the rules governing taxation of shipping companies, 
tonnage tax.

2.14 eMployee BenefitS
(a) penSion oBligationS
The group has a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the 
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior 
periods.

2.15 proviSionS
Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when: the Group has a pres-
ent legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination 
penalties and employee termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is deter-
mined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow 
with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. 
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.16 revenue recognition
continuing BuSineSS (iaS 17 anD iaS 18):
Oceanteam Shipping is an offshore services company and its operations is the chartering of Large Offshore Construction 
Support / Lay Vessels and Fast Support Vessels. In addition, Oceanteam Shipping provides rental services of installation 
and burial equipment and engineering design services.
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Shipping revenueS:
Income is recognised when it is probable that transactions will generate future financial benefits that will accrue to the 
company and the amount can be reliably estimated. The majority of contracts are long-term time charter contracts. 
Income and expenses related to a charter party are accrued based on the number of days the contract lasts prior to and 
after the end of the accounting period.

In the event of off-hire periods, the vessel owner carries the risk beyond any worked up dry-dock days which in some 
instances are specified in the contract. The group has taken loss of-hire insurance to cover major operational interrup-
tions such as repairing collision damage or other serious unforeseen repair work.

The mobilization of a vessel is the period for planning and preparation before the charter has commenced. The demo-
bilization is the period when all the special equipments for a project is being taken off until the vessel is ready for a new 
project or charter. Mobilization (demobilization) fees are invoiced to the client and recognized over the mobilization 
(demobilization) period.

engineering revenueS:
KCI business have some lump sum projects on pre-defined design engineering scope, but most part of revenue is hours 
billed as the service is being delivered.

Income from the sale of capital equipment is recognised when delivery takes place and most significant of risk and return 
is transferred.

2.17 DiviDenD DiStriBution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the 
period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. Financial covenants may restrict the possibility 
to distribute dividends.

note 3. finAnciAl riSK mAnAgement
overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•	 credit risk
•	 liquidity risk
•	 market risk (including currency risk, fair market development, interest rate, cash flow interest and price risk)

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management 
framework. The Board has established the Management Committee, which a.o. is responsible for developing and monitoring 
the Group’s risk management policies.

During 2011 the company has stabilised the balance sheet and further derisked the company. An internal merger was 
done to make the dividend stream from the joint venture companies flow more easily up to the parent company with less 
administration. Focus for the company has been standardisation in all its contractual work with their clients and where 
possible demand prepayment for the lease of the equipment.
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creDit riSk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers. The free liquidity is placed in 
bank accounts with banks of acceptable credit quality. The total theoretically credit risk is approx USD 23.4 million where 
USD 11.8 million is receivables and USD 11.6 million is bank deposits, see note 13 and 14. Oceanteam Shipping’s client 
are primarily large companies with high credit ratings. The need for bank guarantee and prepayment are considered on 
individual basis.

traDe anD other receivaBleS
The exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. In 2011 the 3 largest 
clients/ projects represented 91.7% of the Group’s total trade receivables.

Geographically, there is credit risks to Africa (BP Angola), America (McDermott International) and Australia (Fugro -  
TSmarine) for the CSV/LV assets. For the FSV assets the geographically risk is for Mexico and for Venezuela.

For the engineering business the credit risk is for Europe and split between 20 to 40 clients .

As the number of clients increases, the Management Committee will monitor the need for analysing customer credit risk, 
whereby customers are to be grouped according to their credit characteristics. This will also cover a potential need for 
making allowances for impairment corresponding to an estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other receiv-
ables and investments.

The total loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets.

liquiDity riSk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group uses project - based costing to cost its services, which assists in monitoring cash flow requirements. Typically 
the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 60 days, 
including the servicing of financial obligations. This policy is seen as sufficient to ensure that the Group is able to manage 
the potential liquidity impact of circumstances that can reasonably be predicted, such as delays in the execution of proj-
ects. Such delays can either be caused by Oceanteam or the client involved in the contract in question.

The Group has an overdraft facility of EUR 500.000.

The management is working to refinancing current bank debt and thereafter the existing Bond Loan to improve the capital 
structure of the company. If the bond loan is called 30 banking days before 19th June 2012, then warrants of 148.9 million 
will be active at a subscription price of NOK 0.10 which will give an equity effect of NOK 14.9 million. Bank loans for ves-
sels CSV 101 and CSV 104 are in refinancing process.
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financial covenantS
According to a liquidity covenant in its loan agreements, the Group shall at all times have a minimum free liquidity of EUR 
5 million and 5% of interest bearing debt. At the balance sheet date, the Group had a liquidity position of USD 11.6 mil-
lion, of which approx. 2.3 USD million was restricted or pledged as collateral. The USD 9.3 million in free cash consisted of 
approx EUR 1.3 million, plus approx. USD 7.1 million and some NOK’s and GBP’s.

The liquidity position per 31st December 2011 is still tight which the management is working to improve during 2012. A 
refinance of both the vessels and the bond loan can improve the liquidity situation.

The investment for the Lay Vessel North Ocean 105 is fully financed according to building contract with the yard. 
Remaining funding will be required for project management and for the building interests. 

Per 31 December 2011 Oceanteam Shipping is compliant with financial covenants for bank loans and bond loans, both on 
Group level and the individual company level.

Market riSk
The company has invested 25 percent in Lay Vessel North Ocean 105. The vessel has been delivered 20th April 2012 and 
has commenced a five year charter at delivery. This investment has risk connected to charterer, complex offshore opera-
tions and risk connecting to owners guarantees in case of the project needs more funding. 

operational riSk
Operational risks include charters, service life and technical risk of vessels, risk for substantial responsibilities, the Group’s 
ability to retain senior management and key personnel, risk for legal proceedings and contractual disputes, construction 
risk and employment risk for the vessels and equipment.

The risk includes risk of fluctuation in oil prices, political, economical risk and other uncertainties, increased competition, 
and risk of war, other armed conflicts and terrorist attacks. The deteriorated financial climate has lead to delays in proj-
ects in the oil and gas and renewable industries which might make it more difficult to obtain attractive contracts for the 
construction support vessels and fast support vessels.
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Also the demand for cable installation equipment and engineering services may be affected by the economic circum-
stances. The Company’s cost base is only to a limited extend exposed to increases in the price of bunker oil as in time 
charter contracts fuel normally is for the account of the customer.

The current situation with the Company’s main assets, the construction support vessels, is as follows. Currently a tender 
with BP Angola take place on the potential longer time charter for CSV Bourbon Oceanteam 101. “CSV North Ocean 102” 
will be on charter with J. Ray McDermott until mid 2015. “CSV Southern Ocean” (renamed from CSV Bourbon Oceanteam 
104 is on contract to Fugro - TSmarine until ending 2013. The Lay Vessel North Ocean 105 has a five year contract with 
J. Ray McDermott at delivery of the yard.

financial riSk
The company is exposed to financial risk in different areas. Financial risks include interest rate and currency fluctuations, 
investment and trading risks in general, borrowing and leverage and risk in connection with the vessels under construc-
tion / Spanish tax lease.

The company has sales revenues and liabilities in foreign currencies and is exposed to currency risks. This risk is particu-
larly relevant for the liabilities in Norwegian Kroner and revenue and liabilities in the US dollar and EURO.

The company is exposed to changes in interest rates as the bulk of its debt has floating rates. The Lay Vessel North 
Ocean 105 has fixed interest and is hedged to USD to cover the building contract which is in EURO.

The objective of the Company is to reduce the financial risk as much as possible. Current strategy does not include the 
use of financial instruments, but is largely based on natural hedging. Natural hedging means to have revenue and cost in 
the same currency for each project. This is, however, continuously being assessed by the Board of Directors.

The revenue from the charter contracts with J. Ray McDermott are in US dollar. 

currency riSk
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases, cash deposits and borrowings that are denominated in a cur-
rency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities, primarily the US dollar (USD), but also EURO and 
Norwegian Kroner (NOK) .

The major currency risk for the Group is the nominal bond loan of NOK 400 mill and the call premium and the timing of 
the refinancing of the bond loan. The total loan amount in USD is 73.7 million per 31 December 2011. Incurred interest 
costs are for the bond loan in NOK and for the other loans in USD. Provisions and other items are all in EURO, USD and 
GBP.

exchange rates 
1.1. 2011

exchange rates 
31.12. 2011

Exchange rates used in the annual report: EUR/ USD 0,7496 0,7729
NOK/ USD 0,1708 0,1669

EUR - European euro
NOK - Norwegian krones USD/ NOK 5,8564 5,9927
USD - American dollars USD/ EUR 1,3340 1,2939
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The carrying amounts of the group’s trade and other receivables, long term and short term liabilities, are denominated in 
the following currencies:

2011 2010
USD 9 054 10 514
EURO 1 874 303
NOK (596) (660)
Other currencies 1 461 (332)

11 793 9 825

The carrying amounts of the group’s short term and long term liabilities are denominated in the following currencies:

2011 2010
USD (61 705) (69 242)
NOK (87 247) (73 185)
Other currencies (11 495) (26 015)

(160 447) (168 442)

USD exchange rate movements:

31.12.11 increase Decrease
USD - American dollars/ EUR 1,2939 1,5000 1,1000
Effect on receivables 2 424 386 (363)

UsD/ NoK 5,9927 6,5000 5,5000
Effect on liabilities 73 590 (5 743) 6 592
NOK 441 000

The largest currency risk for Oceanteam Shipping is connected to movement in the NOK versus USD and the timing of the 
refinancing of the bond loan.

intereSt rate riSk
At 31 December 2011, if interest rates on NOK-denominated borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with 
all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the year would have been USD 737.000 (2010: USD 691.000) lower/
higher, as a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.
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At December 31 2011, if interest rates on USD -denominated borrowings had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all 
other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the year would have been USD 393.000 (2010: 433.000) lower/higher, as 
a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

2011 2010
carrying amount carrying amount

Cash balance 11 638 13 501

Secured bank loans 72 380 84 899
Unsecured loans 73 717 66 751
total loans and borrowings 146 097 151 650

NiBor/ LiBor/ eUriBor + margin 3 % 4 % 5 %
Total effect on interests with margin increase with 100 basis points 4 383 5 844 7 305
Positive (negative) effects 1 461 (1 461)

intereSt rate fluctuationS
An increase (decrease) in the interest level with 100 bp will give an effect of USD 1.5 million on the balance of loans and 
borrowings per 31 December 2011. From December 2011 the margin on the bond loan will increase with 100 bp. The 
interests rates are also linked to the development of NIBOR/ EURIBOR and LIBOR margins.

fair value BonD loan
The fair value of trades of the bond loan was 93% of the nominal value at year end.

capital ManageMent
The Board’s policy is to improve the capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to  
substain future development of the business. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust  
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or refinancing debt.

The Group’s debt providers have imposed the following covenants regarding capital management:

•	 25% book equity at all times;
•	 35% value adjusted equity at all times;
•	 free liquidity of EUR 5 million and 5% of interest bearing debt;
•	 covenants in vessel owning companies

There are significant premium values connected to the CSV vessels. At the same time these estimates are connected with 
uncertainty.

New vessels are not ordered before equity installments are allocated and full financing is in place with a reputable  
shipping banks. Long term cash flows are continually updated to identify risks and opportunities.
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note 4. criticAl Accounting eStimAteS And JudgmentS
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 critical accounting eStiMateS anD aSSuMptionS
(a) incoMe taxeS
The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining the world-
wide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination 
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based 
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period 
in which such determination is made.

Some companies operate under the Norwegian Tonnage Tax system were the tax is estimated to be zero.

(B) revaluation MoDel
The estimate of the fair value on the CSV/LV vessels may change due to variation on charter hire, OPEX, WACC (weighted 
average cost of capital) and market conditions and operational risks of operating CSV/LV vessels.

CSV/LV assets under construction have a risk of variation orders which can increase the building costs.

(c) gooDwill
The estimate of Cash Generated Units (CGU) may have variation on cash flow estimates and WACC.
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note 5. Segment informAtion
2010 shippiNG eNGiNeeriNG totAL

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
External revenue 36 250 30 923 24 958 16 065 61 208 46 988
inter segment revenue

operating costs (10 188) (11 004) (14 463) (10 793) (24 651) (21 797)
General & Administration (5 832) (3 237) (5 963) (4 902) (11 795) (8 139)
Depreciaton (10 224) (7 498) (4 518) (4 079) (14 742) (11 577)
write off assets (32) 2 130 2 098
reportable segment profit 
before income tax

9 974 9 184 2 144 (3 709) 12 118 5 475

interest income 1 691 2 769 (1 165) (563) 525 2 206
interest cost (13 964) (8 637) 30 (264) (13 934) (8 901)
Foreign exchange result 921 (2 456) 1 522 71 2 443 (2 385)
pre-tax profit (1 346) (4 465) 2 499 860 1 153 (3 605)
investment in associates 5 988 4 828 5 988 4 828
reportable segments assets 238 053 236 258 35 352 34 265 273 405 270 523
capital expenditure 11 558 44 419 2 144 13 702 44 419
reportable segments liabilities 122 743 145 357 37 704 23 086 160 447 168 443

The Shipping segment consist of the three operating CSV vessels, one Lay Vessel under construction and the two FSV’s. 
All the vessels are working outside Europe in 2011. Administration expenses in Oceanteam Shipping ASA are allocated to 
Shipping segment.

All engineering activities are in Europe.

Geographical segments
sales 2011 2010

Europe 24 958 26 860
Other 36 250 20 128

61 208 46 988
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note 6. revenue
revenue comprises: 2011 2010 change in %
Shipping revenue 36 250 30 923 17 %
Engineering revenue 24 958 16 065 55 %
total revenue 61 208 46 988 30 %

Shipping
The group’s operational vessels are rented out on time/ bare boat charters. The group has evaluated “IFRIC interpretation 
4 Determination” whether an arrangement contains a lease and has concluded that the time charters (TC) and bare boat 
(BB) contract represent lease of assets and are therefore subject to IAS 17. The lease agreements are classified as opera-
tion leases.

When Crew is included, this part of revenue will be accounted for in accordance with IAS 18.

Lease income from vessels is recognized on the profit and loss account using the straight line method for the duration 
of the lease period. The lease period starts on the date the vessel is made available to the leaser, and terminates on the 
agreed date for return of the vessel.

Crew hire and payments to cover other operating expenses are reported as income according to the straight line method 
for the duration of the agreement. There is no difference in the recognising of revenue after IAS 17 or the IAS 18, but the 
disclosure lists are different.

Mobilization and demobilization income is booked in the period in which the work was performed. Income and costs 
associated with charter parties are recognized in the accounts on the basis of the number of days the contract lasts for 
and after the end of the accounting period. Revenues from the sale of vessels are recorded in the income statement once 
delivery to the new owner has taken place.

Contracts schedule
2011
Q1-2

2011
Q3-4

2012
Q1-2

2012
Q3-4

2013
Q1-2

2013
Q3-4

2014
Q1-2

2014
Q3-4

2015
Q1-2

2015
Q3-4

2016
Q1-2

2016
Q3-4

Shipping Type of contracts

CSV BO 101 time charter

CSV North Ocean 102 time charter

CSV Southern Ocean bareboat

LV North Ocean 105 time charter

Mantarraya bareboat

Tiburon bareboat

Contract Tender/Option Under construction No contractDry Dock
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The Group leases out its CSV Vessels. The future minimum lease payments under non - cancellable leases are as follows:

UsD Million 2011 2010
Less than one year: 58 807 30
Between one and five years: 147 463 101
More than five years: 8 438 3

Oceanteam Shippings operations in Mexico are two Fast Supporting vessels (FSV). These vessels are transporting people 
and light equipment from land to offshore installations and between offshore installations.

engineering
The equipment pool is being rented out in the spot market and Oceanteam Shipping is marketing the equipment for longer 
contracts as well. The revenue is recognized, in accordance with IAS 18, when the equipment and personnel is rented out 
against the day rates.

The income from the engineering part of the Group and services is recognised when achieved. The sale of services from 
the engineering activities are recognized in accordance with IAS 18 and a percentage of completion when the outcome of 
the service contract can be measured reliably.

DiScontinueD BuSineSS (iaS 11 anD ifrS 5):
The only transaction in 2011 under discontinuing business was a settlement for the OPU claim of USD 670.000 in the 4th 
quarter of 2011.

note 7. perSonnel coSt
UsD’000 2011 2010
personnel cost
Salary 6 031 5 201
Pensions 119 169
Social security cost 139 130
Insurance 116 131
Directors fees 120 120
Contractors fees 1 709 412
Other Cost 37 34
Personnel cost allocated to projects, including assets (395) (2 342)
total 7 875 3 856
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Accumulated expenses for wages, pension premiums and other remuneration to the CEO, other group executives and 
members of the parent company’s board were:

2011 UsD’000 Wages pension premiums other renumeration
Haico Halbesma (CEO) 355 286
Torbjørn Skulstad (CFO) 172 10 72
Board 123 1 108
total 650 10 1 466

2010 UsD’000 Wages in UsD ‘000 pension premiums other renumeration
Haico Halbesma (CEO) 280 94
Ruud van der Steeg (CFO) 181 77
Board 586
total 1 047 94 77

renumeration in NoK ‘000
Name position 2011 2010
Mr. Hessel Halbesma Chairman 3 804 2 007
Mr. Ronald Moolenaar Director 2 250 1 377
Mrs. Catharina Petronella Johanna Pos Director 1 664 200

There are no bonus agreements, options, or pensions plans for the CEO. Annual salary is EUR 282.000/ year. He has also 
waived his protection in relation dismissal. For this waiver twelve month salary is offered as compensation. From 2011 
the CEO has entered a service agreement through his company Heer Holland B.V. 

For the year 2011, the agreed fee for the chairman of the board is NOK 300.000 and NOK 200.000 for the other members 
of the board of directors . In addition, the agreed fee for the board committee is EUR 2.400 per day.

The management has an incentive scheme where the incentive is based on the yearly gross salary. The incentive cannot 
be more than the annual salary.

Oceanteam Shipping ASA has established a new office in Monaco. 
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note 8. generAl AdminiStrAtion - AuditorS fee
UsD '000

specification of fee to our auditor KpMG 2011 2010
Statutory audit 259 236
Other assurance services 65 76
Tax advisory 17 24
Other 20 55
total 341 390

In addition to the fee to KPMG, the group has paid fee to other audit firms. 

note 9. intAngible ASSetS
UsD '000

2011 Goodwill
customer 
relations

Design No 
307

total

Historical cost 31 December 2010 12 987 4 400 17 387
Additions 259 259
Disposals
Minority interests
Conversion variances
historical cost 31 December 2011  12 987 4 400 259 17 646
Accumulated amortization (365) (365)
Amortization (1 460) (1 460)
Impairments/reversals
Amortization (1 825) (1 825)
Accumulated impairments
Impairments/ reversals
Accumulated impairments

Book value 31 December 2011 12 987 2 575 259 15 818

Amortization rates 3 years
Not yet 

depreciable
Amortization method Linear Linear
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UsD '000

2010 Goodwill
customer 
relations

other 
intangibles 

assets
total

Historical cost 31 December 2009 9 427 9 427
Additions 3 560 4 400 7 960
Disposals
Minority interests
Conversion variances
historical cost 31 December 2010 12 987 4 400 17 387
Accumulated amortization
Amortization (365) (365)
Impairments/reversals
Amortization (365) (365)
Accumulated impairments
Impairments/ reversals
Accumulated impairments

Book value 31 December 2010 12 987 4 035 17 022
Amortization rates 3 years Not yet 

depreciable
Amortization method Linear

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s operating divisions which represent the  
lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Value in use was 
determined by discounting the future cash flows generated from the continuing use of the unit.

Oceanteam Shipping had two external valuations on the company which the goodwill asset has arised from. Both the 
independent, third parties valuations shows added values which are higher than the goodwill amount of USD 9.4 million. 
In addition there is a cash flow model which calculates the estimated cash flow for a 5 years period.

caSh flow-generating unitS
Oceanteam’s goodwill originates from acquisitions in 2008 and 2010. The management will follow up recoverable 
amounts per identified cash-flow generating units (CGU). The legal unit KCI BV is defined as the CGU.

DeterMination of recoveraBle aMount
Value in use, is used to find the recoverable amount. The calculations are based on future cash flows where budgets 
and strategically goals for the period 2012-2016 are used.  In the cash flow analysis a margin between 12.7% and 15.4% 
has been applied. Present value is calculated by using discounted cash flows where the weighed average cost of capital 
(WACC) is 8,4% before tax. WACC is based on a risk free rate of 1.9%, market share premium of 5% and Beta of 1.3.

SenSitivity analySiS
Sensitivity analysis indicates that at reasonable changes in discount rate, no impairments will occur.
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note 10. tAngible ASSetS And inveStment in ASSociAteS

2011
participation 

in Lv 105

Fast 
support 
vessels, 

Machinery 
& other

Lv asset 
under con-

struction

construc-
tion and 
support 
vessels 

(csv)

total

Historical cost 31 December 2010 4 828 37 851 0 137 589 180 268
Additions 2 144 11 558 13 702
Disposals (6 853) (3 628) (10 481)
historical cost 31 December 2011 4 828 33 142 0 145 519 183 489
Accumulated depreciation 31 December 
2010

(9 378) (11 050) (20 428)

Depreciation (3 661) (6 394) (10 055)
Disposals depreciation
Accumulated depreciation 31 December 
2011

(13 039) (17 444) (30 483)

Accumulated impairments 31 December 
2010

(10 651) (10 651)

Impairments/reversals 2 098 2 098
Accumulated impairments 31 December 
2011

(8 553) (8 553)

carrying amount 31 Dec 2011 if csv's 
were stated at historical cost

4 828 11 550 0 128 075 144 453

revaluation reserve 31 December 2010 77 155 77 155
Net change in revaluation surplus 1 160 8 005 9 165
revaluation reserve 31 December 2011 1 160 85 160 86 320

carrying amount 31 December 2011 5 988 11 550 0 213 235 230 324

Depreciation premium values (3 224) (3 224)

Depreciation rates 25 years 3-15 years 5-25 years
Depreciation method linear linear linear
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2010
participation 

in Lv 105

Fast 
support 
vessels, 

Machinery 
& other

Lv asset 
under con-

struction

construc-
tion and 
support 
vessels 

(csv)

total

Historical cost 31 December 2009 42 734 38 147 97 498 178 380
Additions 4 828 40 091 44 919
Disposals (4 883) (38 147) (43 030)
historical cost 31 December 2010 4 828 37 851 0 137 589 180 268
Accumulated depreciation 31 December 
2009

(6 366) (7 409) (13 775)

Depreciation (3 012) (3 641) (6 653)
Disposals depreciation
Accumulated depreciation 31 December 
2010

(9 378) (11 050) (20 428)

Accumulated impairments 31 December 
2010

(11 070) (11 070)

Impairments/reversals 419 419
Accumulated impairments 31 December 
2010

(10 651) (10 651)

historical cost 31 December 2010 4 828 17 823 0 126 539 149 190

revaluation reserve 31 December 2009 9 158 48 730 57 888
Net change in revaluation surplus (9 158) 30 725 21 567
revaluation reserve 31. December 
2010

79 455 79 455

carrying amount 31 December 2010 4 828 17 823 0 203 694 226 344

Depreciation premium values (3 224) (3 224)

Depreciation rates 25 years 3-15 years 5-25 years
Depreciation method linear linear linear

When internal resources are used to engineer and construct a fixed asset, the relevant costs are added to the historical 
cost. All construction financing costs are capitalized. Interest costs for bank loans are booked as borrowing costs in  
relevant period after completion of vessels. The Construction Support Vessel’s (CSV’s) & Lay Vessl and the Crew Boats 
are financed and held for security, see note 17 loans and borrowings.
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reverSal of write off for SMD plough:
The SMD Plough was written down with the amount of EUR 1.5 million at the end of 2009 due to confiscation and a com-
mercial dispute. Per 18th March 2011 the Group reached a settlement agreement. The reversal of the write down is based 
on the fact that the plough will start generating a cash flow and therefore must be presented with its correct value.

the aSSuMptionS in the revaluation MoDel are the following:
•	 The model for the calculation of the revaluation has been developed in coorporation with external experts and has the 

following features:
•	 Oceanteam Shipping is updating the model quarterly
•	 Two external valuations from independent brokers where the Construction Support Vessel (CSV) / Lay Vessel is traded 

between  
a willing buyer and a willing seller in an active market

 - the Brokers opinion of recent newbuilding quotes of similar tonnage
 - the Brokers are evaluating the replacement costs of comparable vessels
 - the Brokers are evaluating if any recent sales of comparable vessels in the market

The above 3 assumptions form Brokers sole opinion of the fair market value any asset in the prevailing market as between 
a willing seller and a willing buyer, charter free. The brokers valuation are done quarterly at end of quarter.

In the market for CSV / Lay Vessels there are few transactions of similar tonnage and charter rates often are adjusted to  
specific projects, the valuation is mostly based on Brokers opinion of recent newbuilding quotes of similar tonnage and 
equipment.

In general the Brokers state that it cannot give any assurance that the valuation can be substained or realizable in any 
actual transactions. The vessels are also valued individually. If all or any of them were placed on the market at the same 
time, no assurance can be given that the amount realized would be equal to the total of the individual valuations.

•	 The average of two brokers valuation on a charter free CSV / Lay Vessel with prompt delivery
•	 The estimated economically lifetime is 25 year from delivery of the vessel
•	 The calculated cash flow from the time charter on the revaluated CSV vessel is being compared with the estimated 

brokers charter.
•	 The premium value of the vessel is depreciated linear over the useful life of the assets
•	 The cash flow from the charter is discounted with a WACC of 10 percent. The calculation of the WACC has the following 

assumptions:
 - 5 year state USD
 - a 40/60 ratio of equity debt
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•	 When Oceanteam Shipping has a signed building contract, financing is secured, construction costs and fair value can 
be measured reliably. Oceanteam Shipping is applying the revaluation model for the CSV / Lay Vessels. The account-
ing impact when applying the revaluation model is that the CSV / Lay Vessels are measured at fair value in the balance 
sheet. The lines on the balance sheet “Vessels and equipment” on the asset side under tangible assets and the line 
“Revaluation Reserve” is affected by the revaluation method. The historical costs for the CSV / Lay Vessels are shown 
in the table above for tangible asset under the column “Construction and Support Vessels” and also the revaluation 
surplus under the line revaluation reserve in the table.

•	 Per balance sheet date the CSV 101, CSV 102, CSV 104 and LV 105 was revaluated.
•	 The option price for the CSV North Ocean 102 and LV North Ocean 105 are included in the cash flow connected to the 

vessel and the option can be called in Q4 2014 and Q2 2017. When the relevant option period commences, McDermott 
will have 180 days to call the option. If the option is not within the option period, the call option will go to Oceanteam 
Shipping. The call option price for the CSV 102 is USD 120 million at the intial transaction date 19th December 2009 
depreciated over 20 years with adjustments for the working capital. On the LV 105 the option price is calculated in the 
same way where the depreciation starts at based on the building costs.

According to IAS 39 this is a financial liability for Oceanteam Shipping to be recognized in the financial statements. When 
there is uncertainty related to such liabilities, the liability must be estimated. The option value for the CSV North Ocean 
102 is included in the cash flow connected to the vessel, based on the best estimate of the management.

Oceanteam Shipping has the following investments in associates:

entity
country/ 
industry

owner-
ship 

interest

carrying 
amount 

31.12.2011

Net profit 
(loss) 
2011

Amortisation 
of excess 

values 2011

carrying 
amount 

31.12.2011
Fair 

value
North Ocean 105 AS Norway/ Shipping 25 % 4 828 * * 4 828 5 964

total 4 828 4 828 5 964

total assets and liabilities for associates in the Group: 2011 2010
Current assets 309 2 561
Non-current assets 23 441 5 628
Current liabilities 2 734 2 180
Non current liabilities 15 532 856
Income * *
Expenses * *
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note 11. net finAnce coSt
UsD’000 2011 2010
Interest income bank 360 146
Other financial income 165 2 060
Foreign exchange gain/loss 2 443 (2 385)
Interest expense (12 664) (8 483)
Other financial expense (1 270) (418)
total (10 965) (9 080)

note 12. tAx
UsD '000

2011 2010
Tax payable Norway
Tax payable abroad 417 145
Changes in deferred tax Norway (1 223) (1 913)
Adjustments previous year
Changes in deferred tax abroad (2 823)
income tax (806) (4 591)

reconciliation of tax payable
Tax payable in profit and loss account
Credit deduction, international
Tax, international 100 58
Corrections previous years
tax payable in balance sheet 100 58

reconciliation of nominal and effective tax rate
Profit before tax 1 153 (3 605)
Applicable 28% tax rate 323 (1 009)

variance, actual and expected income tax expense (1 129) (3 582)

explanation of why actual tax cost deviates from expected tax cost
Tax effect from non-deductible costs
Tax effect from non-taxable income
Effect of foreign trade tax 95
Effect of shipping company taxation (1 223)
Difference between foreign tax rate and Norwegian tax rate
Changes utilization of tax loss carry forward (3 582)

variance compared to applicable tax rate (1 129) (3 582)
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income tax in other 
comprehensive income

2011 tAX 2010 tAX

Before tax
tax (ex-

pense) 
benefit

Net of tax Before tax
tax (ex-

pense) 
benefit

Net of tax

Changes in revaluation model for non-
tonnage tax companies

4 367 (1 223) 3 144 6 832 (1 913) 4 919

Other comprehensive income
Translation differences 245 245 (3 286) (3 286)

4 612 (1 223) 3 389 3 546 (1 913) 1 633

DeferreD tax:
Below is a specification of temporary differences between accounting and tax values, as well as calculation of deferred 
tax / tax asset at the end of the financial year.

Basis for deferred tax 2011 2010
Other current balance sheet items
Amount linked to current balance sheet items
Deferred tax on equity transactions
Deferred tax on revaluation model (30 187) (25 820)
Loss carried forward 178 949 146 652
Amount linked to long-term balance sheet items 148 762 120 832

total basis for deferred tax assets 148 762 120 832
total deferred tax (-) / tax assets
- Deferred tax/ tax assets, companies taxed as shipping companies
Deferred tax assets calculated 41 653 33 833

calculation of deferred tax / tax asset
Deferred tax recognised in balance sheet
Deferred tax asset recognised in balance sheet 3 831 3 831

Deferred income tax and liabilities are offset when there is an enforceable right to offset deferred tax assets against 
deferred tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax relate to the same fiscal authority.

Oceanteam Shipping has recognized USD 3.8 million as a deferred tax asset for the operations in The Netherlands. The 
deferred tax asset is related to the equipment business, and is based on latest forecast for this business. Plans indicate 
that there will be sufficient taxable profit to offset some of the tax loss carry forward before 2018, which is the period of 
utilization. Contracts and budgeted revenue with customers gives convincing evidence to support the conclusion that the 
deferred tax asset can be recognized in the accounts.
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Parent company Oceanteam Shipping ASA has suffered large tax losses from exiting the contracting business. The basis 
for potential deferred tax loss is estimated to amount to USD 144 million for the Norwegian entities and EUR 45 million 
for abroad operations. Confirmation from the tax authorities of a deferred tax loss of NOK 866 million has been received 
in October 2011. The deferred tax losses are not recognized in the balance sheet as there is uncertainty to what extent 
the losses can be offset against future profits.

Revaluated vessels that are in the tonnage tax regime have no deferred tax on the revaluation surplus since taxed under 
the tonnage tax regime.

note 13. receivAbleS
UsD ‘000

2011 2010
Trade receivables at nominal value 7 648 6 290
less: provision for impairment of trade receivables 390 (9)
Trade receivables net 7 258 6 299
Other current receivables 4 536 3 525
receivables 31.12. 11 794 9 824

Movements on the group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
At 1 January (9) 41
Provision for receivables impairment 398 (50)
At 31 December 390 (9)

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in ‘other expenses’ in the income 
statement. Amounts charged to the allowance acount are generally written off when there is no expectaton of recovering 
additional cash.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned 
above. The group does not hold any collateral as security.

Trade receivable for 2011 of USD 7.2 million consist of USD 2.8 million and EUR 3.3 million. Other receivables consist of 
EUR 1.4 million and USD 2.6 million. All outstanding trade receivables for Shipping Segment of approximate USD 2.8 million 
is received in 2012. For Engineering Segment, EUR 2.3 million of outstanding trade receivables at year end are received in 
2012.

However, there is EUR 1.0 million in receivable which is disputed by a client for 2011. A provision is booked for doubtful 
receivables which is sufficient at the information at date.
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note 14. cASh And cASh eQuivAlentS
2011 2010

Cash 11 638 13 501
cash and cash equivalents 31.12. 11 638 13 501

of which is restricted deposits* 2 818 5 094

Unused overdraft facilities 31.12. 647 667

Restricted amounts consists of restricted cash limit for earnings account for the CSV vessels and the deducted 
employee tax within 2 months.

The cash on the group is restricted for USD 2.8 million which gives USD in free cash of total in USD 9.3 million, consisting 
of EUR 0.65 million, NOK 2.1 million, USD 8.2 million and some GBP.

note 15. inveStmentS in compAnieS
overview subsidiaries: head office equity interest voting share

Subsidiary companies:
Oceanteam II BV Amsterdam, Netherlands 100 % 100 %
IMERA NV Amsterdam, Netherlands * 100 % 100 %
Oceanteam Equipment Base 2 Ltd Amsterdam, Netherlands ** 100 % 100 %
Oceanteam Shipping GmbH Amsterdam, Netherlands * 100 % 100 %
Oceanteam Shipping BV Amsterdam, Netherlands * 100 % 100 %
Oceanteam Equipment Base Ltd Amsterdam, Netherlands ** 100 % 100 %
Oceanteam GmbH Amsterdam, Netherlands ** 100 % 100 %
Oceanteam Power & Umbilical GmbH Amsterdam, Netherlands *** 100 % 100 %
Oceanteam Mexico BV Amsterdam, Netherlands * 100 % 100 %
Oceanteam Mexico SA de CV Mexico ** 49 % 90 %

Oceanteam Energy Holding NV Amsterdam, Netherlands 100 % 100 %
DEP BV Schiedam, Netherlands * 100 % 100 %
KCI Holding BV Schiedam, Netherlands ** 100 % 100 %
KCI BV Schiedam, Netherlands *** 70 % 70 %

Oceanteam Shipping Monaco SAM Monaco, France 100 % 100 %

*/**/** The shares are indirectly owned by Oceanteam Shipping ASA through subsidiaries.

The subsidiaries are fully consolidated. For Oceanteam Mexico SA de CV and KCI BV there is a 10% and 30% non control-
ling interest.

Consolidated financial statements for Oceanteam Shipping and for Parent company Oceanteam Shipping ASA are available 
at www.oceanteam.no



65Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

UsD '000
Joint venture companies, see note 26:

csv vessels - three csv vessels in operation 
(csv 101, csv 102 and csv 104)

csv Bourbon oceanteam 101:
Oceanteam Bourbon 101 AS Bergen, Norway 50 % 50 %

csv North ocean 102:
North Ocean II KS Bergen, Norway 50 % 50 %
North Ocean II AS Bergen, Norway 50 % 50 %

csv southern ocean:
Oceanteam Bourbon 4 AS Bergen, Norway 50 % 50 %

Associates:

Lay vessel North ocean 105:
North Ocean 105 AS Bergen, Norway 25 % 25 %

Associates are all entities over which the group has significant influence but is not in control shareholding of between 
20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and 
are initially recognized at cost.

The delivery of the LV 105 is expected in 2nd Quarter 2012.

DiScontinueD operationS:
The only transaction in 2011 under discontinuing business was a settlement of a claim of USD 670.00 in the 4th quarter of 
2011.
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note 16. ShAre cApitAl And ShAreholder informAtion
Share capital: At 31.12.2011, Oceanteam Shipping ASA has a share capital of NOK 7,539,419,-, distributed on 150,788,393 
A shares. There are also two kind of warrants issued: I of 148,986,069 and II of 295,996,977.

shareholders Notes Number of shares prc. of total
SIX SIS AG 1,2 50 090 875 33,2 %
NORTH SEA SHIPPING HOLDING AS 6 590 433 4,4 %
MP PENSJON PK 4 973 529 3,3 %
KALFARET AS 4 479 470 3,0 %
EUROCLEAR BANK S.A./N.V. ('BA') 4 450 638 3,0 %
THE ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND N.V. 3 735 576 2,5 %
TOLLEFSEN 3 618 840 2,4 %
SPAREBANKEN ØST 3 502 102 2,3 %
VARNER-GRUPPEN AS 3 502 102 2,3 %
BANQUE DE LUXEMBURG S.A 2 393 103 1,6 %
SPENCER CAPITAL AS 2 222 244 1,5 %
BOREA NOTERTE I AS 2 216 000 1,5 %
BOREA NOTERTE III AS 2 012 934 1,3 %
OMLAND 1 164 131 0,8 %
KORNDORFFER BEHEER 1 002 000 0,7 %
ODIN OFFSHORE 1 001 000 0,7 %
NORDNET BANK AB 1 000 000 0,7 %
BOREA NOTERTE II AS 868 400 0,6 %
CREDIT SUISSE SECURITIES 835 946 0,6 %
MJELDE, ARVID BJARNE 817 157 0,5 %
subtotal 20 largest 100 476 480 66,6 %
Others 50 311 913 33,4 %
total 150 788 393 100,0 %

Board:
Hessel Halbesma (SIX SIS AG) 1 42 261 128 28,0 %
Ronald P. Moolenaar (SIX SIS AG) 2 7 829 097 5,2 %
total for Board 50 090 225 33,2 %

Management
Haico Halbesma, CEO 1 43 867 0,03 %
Torbjørn Skulstad, CFO 3 280 200 0,19 %
total of shares owned by executive employees 324 067 0,21 %

related parties
Norha Invest AS 1 602 000 0,40 %
Tor Arend Halbesma 500 000 0,33 %
total shares owned by related parties 1 102 000 0,73 %

total shares controlled by halbesma familiy 43 406 995 28,79 %
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1. Norha Invest AS are controlled by the Halbesma family. Haico Halbesma is CEO and Hessel Halbesma is Chairman of 
Oceanteam Shipping ASA. Haico Halbesma also owns 43 867 shares privately. 
Tor Arend Halbesma is son a of Hessel Halbesma. In addition the Halbesma family controls 91 million warrants I. 
2. Ronald Moolenaar is a director in the board of Oceanteam Shipping ASA 
3. Torbjørn Skulstad is the CFO of Oceanteam Shipping ASA. 
For more information, please refer to related party transaction in note 19.

note 17. loAnS And borrowingS
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities and net-settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in 
the table are the contractual cash flows including interests representing nominal value at payment date.

0 to 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years over 5 years total
At 31 December 2011
Bank/bond borrowings incl. Interest 32 788 16 071 128 788 177 647
Other current liabilities 16 422 16 422
total liabilities 49 210 16 071 128 788 194 069

At 31 December 2010
Bank/bond borrowings incl. Interest 17 480 32 290 114 260 20 090 184 120
Other current liabilities 16 794 16 794
total liabilities 34 274 32 290 114 260 20 090 200 914

Loans/ currency of loan true rate of interest 31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010
CSV 101 (USD) Secured LIBOR + margin 16 525 19 318
CSV 102 (USD) Secured LIBOR + margin 21 662 25 936
CSV 104 (EUR) Secured LIBOR + margin 31 832 36 114
Two FSV's (USD) Secured LIBOR + margin 2 361 3 531
Bond loan (NOK) NIBOR + margin 73 717 66 751
total long-term debt 146 097 151 649
1st year principal repayments 22 782 9 955
total long-term debt 123 315 141 694

* the bond loan has two types of warrants depending on if the bond loan is re-financed or not before 19th June 2014.  
See note 26 for further details.

The CSV vessels and the FSV vessels are collateral for the loans. Latest valuation conclude that real value of the secured 
CSV vessels and the two FSV boats are significantly higher then the loan amount per 31 December 2011.

Borrowing costs are considered to be the difference between of fair value and nominal value for the secured loans for  
the vessels.

Fair value for Bond Loan is 93% of nominal value pr 31.12.2011.



  68 Oceanteam Shipping ASA 2011

total Bank facilitieS
As per 31 December 2011 the total interest bearing debt of the company is USD 72.4 million in addition to the NOK 400 
millon bond loan. The company had free cash of approximate USD 10 million and an overdraft facility of EUR 500.000.  
The equity ratio was 41,3% per balance sheet date.

Senior unSecureD BonD loan – nok 400 Million
In 2010 the company purchased 7.5% of the nominal bond loan of NOK 400 million equal to NOK 30 million.  This resulted 
in a net gain of approximately NOK 10 million. In 2011 the part of bond loan owned by the company was sold with a loss 
of approximately NOK 5 million.

Loan covenants for the Group include:

•	 Book equity ratio of minimum 25%
•	 Market value adjusted equity of minimum 35%

In addition to the mentioned write down of the nominal value of the Bond Loan, the following amendments to the terms 
of the loan were made:

•	 Maturity date stretched to 18 June 2014
•	 The interest margin (3.75% margin to NIBOR) increased by 100 bps per year from December 2010
•	 The margin is 5.75% plus NIBOR per 31 December 2011
•	 Nominal value increased to NOK 440 million if not repaid within 18 June 2012
•	 Nominal value increased to NOK 484 million if not repaid within 18 June 2013
•	 The Bond Loan is callable with the following call prices

NOK 423,035,043 through 18 June 2011
NOK 457,587,608 through 18 June 2012
NOK 497,587,608 through 18 June 2013
NOK 541,587,608 through 18 June 2014

norDea Bank norge aSa – eur 45,000,000 - cSv 101
All amounts below are presented on 100% basis, please note that only 50% is included in the group accounts since this  
is a joint venture company.

Oceanteam Bourbon 101 AS (borrower) has entered into a senior secured term loan and guarantee facility agree-
ment dated 14 November 2007 and supplemented on 30 October 2008, 25 May 2009, 30 June 2009, 27 November, 25 
February 2010, 4 June 2010 and 3 December 2010 with Nordea Bank Norge ASA and Sparebanken Rogaland as banks and 
with Nordea Bank Norge ASA as agent for a total amount of EUR 45 million. The loan was converted to USD in June 2010 
and the balance of the loan per 31 December 2011 is USD 33.05 million. The interest rate of the loan is LIBOR + 2.50 % 
p.a. The senior secured term loan will be repaid in quarterly instalments of USD 1.6 million from June 2011 until final 
instalment of USD 26 million in December 2012.
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Key loan covenants for the borrower include:

•	 Free cash of EUR 500,000, increased to EUR 1,000,000 when only 6 months of charter remain
•	 Vessel Value / Loan balance, minimum 125%

Other key loan covenants include:

•	 Value adjusted equity in excess of NOK 300 million and 35% of total value adjusted assets (Group)
•	 Free cash of EUR 5 million and 5% of interest bearing debt as from 1 January 2010 (Group)
•	 Remain listed on Oslo Stock Exchange (Company)

SpareBank 1 SMn/ BnBank aSa – uSD 59,758,600 - cSv 102
All amounts below are presented on 100% basis, please note that only 50% is included in the group accounts since this is 
a joint venture company.

North Ocean II KS (borrower) and Oceanteam Shipping ASA (as guarantor) have entered into a credit and guarantee  
facility agreement in the amount of USD 59,758,600 dated 20 July 2006 and amended 19 January 2009 with BNBank ASA 
as bank and agent. The loan is divided in two tranches; first tranche consisting of USD 52 million with an interest of LIBOR 
+2.75% p.a. and the t second tranche consisting of USD 8 million with an interest of LIBOR +3.25% p.a. The balance of the 
loan per 31 December 2011 is USD 43.3 million. The loan will be repaid in quarterly instalments of USD 1.5 million until 
final instalment of USD 31 million in January 2014.

Key loan covenants for the borrower include:

•	 Market value adjusted equity of 25%
•	 Market Value / Loan balance, minimum 130%
•	 Working capital of USD 3.90 million

First year installments are deducted from short term liablilities according to NGAAP.

Other key loan covenants include:

•	 Free cash of USD 3.25 million (Oceanteam Shipping ASA)

SpareBank 1 SMn/ BnBank aSa – uSD 59,599,660 - cSv Southern ocean
All amounts below are presented on 100% basis, please note that only 50% is included in the group accounts since this is 
a joint venture company.

Oceanteam Bourbon 4 AS (borrower) has entered into a credit and guarantee facility agreement in the amount of USD 
59.6 million with BNBank ASA and Glitnir Banki HF as lenders and BNBank ASA as facility agent. The loan was converted 
to USD in Q4 2011. The balance of the loan per 31 December 2011 is USD 59,6 million. The current interest is LIBOR + 
3,00 %. After conversion, the loan will be repaid in 18 quarterly instalments of USD 1.1 million and a balloon of USD 41 
million expected in Q2 2016.
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The terms and conditions of this loan have been renegotiatiated with the banks as a consequence of Glitner Banki HF 
entering into receivership in 2009 and SpareBank 1 SMN/ BNBank ASA taking over Glitner Banki HF’s share in the credit 
agreement.

 Key loan covenants for the borrower include:

•	 Market value adjusted equity of 20%
•	 Positive working capital

First year installments are deducted from short term liabilities according to NGAAP.

Other key loan covenants include:

•	 Free cash of EUR 5 million (Group)
•	 Market value adjusted equity (Oceanteam Shipping ASA) of 30%
•	 Market value adjusted equity (Bourbon Offshore Norway AS) of 25%

other loanS
The two Fast Support Vessels have been financed with two loans from Amstel Lease. Per 31 December 2011 the total 
balance of the loan was USD 2.36 million. Each loan is repaid through 90 monthly instalments of USD 50,672.79 with last 
instalment in January 2014. The applicable interest rate is 7.175 %.

Metalships & Docks SAU have agreed to a seller’s credit to North Ocean II KS, connected to the variation orders for CSV 
North Ocean 102 and for the CSV Southern Ocean (renamed from CSV Bourbon Oceanteam 104). The loans are wholly 
reimbursed by 2011.

Repayment structure of the bond loan of 400 MNOK:

000 NoK
irr (values) interest Balance Quarterly

(400 000) (400 000)

* < 18 June 2011 25 186 (28 558) (428 558) (7 139)
* < 18 June 2012 338 745 (14 539) (443 097) (3 635)
* < 18 June 2013 101 427 (15 033) (458 129) (3 758)
* < 18 June 2014 36 200 (15 543) (473 672) (3 886)

IRR 7,14 % (73 672)

Call premium monthly (2 380)

The internal rate of return (7,14%) is used in the accounts to account for the expected call premium on the new bond loan.

Pr year end 2011 Oceanteam Shipping have accrued NOK 41.8 million in expected call premium. This is presented as a 
long-term debt in the financial accounts. A new estimate will be calculated if the accrual seems insufficient.
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note 18. other current liAbilitieS
UsD’000

2011 2010
Public charges 176 922
Provisions (75) 4 196
Other 3 393 4 182
Holiday and wages due 74 71
Incurred interest costs 500 746
Tax payable 100 58
other current liabilities 4 168 10 175

Incurred interest costs are for the bond loan in NOK and for the other loans in the relevant currencies.The amount of 
provisions is based on the Company’s best estimates of the exposure and on legal opinions. Other liabilities are related 
to accrued interests on loans and other liabilities to the joint venture partners. All balance is in USD and NOK. The NOK 
amount is approximate NOK 28 million.

note 19. relAted pArtieS
oceanteaM holDing B.v.
Oceanteam Holding B.V. is controlled by chairman Hessel Halbesma and Haico Halbesma. Oceanteam Holding BV owns 
warrants of 79.1 million.

Oceanteam Holding acts as guarantor for Oceanteam II BV on the Amstel Lease financing of the Mexican Fast Support 
Vessels. Oceanteam Shipping ASA pays a fee for this guarantee equal to 5% of the outstanding guarantee amount.

toha inveSt Bv:
Toha Invest BV is controlled by Hessel Halbesma and Haico Halbesma.

challenger ManageMent ServiceS S.a.M:
Ronald Moolenaar, director since December 2009, has an agreement to invoice EUR 300 per hour through his personal 
company Challenger Management Services S.A.M.

heer hollanD Bv
This company is controlled by CEO Haico Halbesma, who has an service agreement with Oceanteam Shipping ASA.

 feaStwooD holDing ltD
Feastwood is controlled by Hessel Halbesma, chairman of Oceanteam Shipping ASA.

cenzo
Cenzo is controlled by Catharina Petronella Johanna Pos, director of Oceanteam Shipping ASA.
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Transactions with related parties:

UsD’000 income/recharge exp. cost
company 2011 2010 2011 2010 type of transaction
Cenzo BV (261) Board Committee
Toha Invest BV (207) (283) Amstel Lease guarantee

Oceanteam Holding BV 750 12 96 Board Committee
Feastwood Holding Ltd 24 (158) Board Committee
Heer Holland BV (430) Management Services
Challenger Management 
Services S.A.M

1 1 (351) (205) Board Committee

Bourbon Offshore Norway AS 186 (161) (111) Joint Venture Interests
J. Ray McDermott 4 (30) Accounting services

customer balance vendor balance
intercompany balances 2011 2010 2011 2010
Cenzo BV
Toha Invest BV 91 0 56
Oceanteam Holding BV (124) (21)
Feastwood Holding Ltd (100)
Heer Holland BV (32)
Challenger Management 
Services S.A.M

1 (98) 27

Bourbon Offshore Norway AS (7 293) (2 706)
J. Ray McDermott

note 20. buSineSS combinAtionS
acquiSition of kci engineering
On 2nd April 2010 Oceanteam Shipping ASA acquired additional 20 percent of the shares and voting interests of KCI 
Engineering. As a result, the Group’s equity interest in KCI Engineering increased from 50 percent to 70 percent.

note 21. contingent liAbilitieS
The company has one claim of EUR 325.000 which the company has provided a bank guarantee of the same amount as 
the claim. The company’s legal advice is that the company has a strong case and therefore no accrual has been made in 
the annual accounts.

note 22. contingent ASSetS
The company has a dispute of EUR 1 million in receivables where a provision of EUR 250.000 has made in the accounts for 
doubtful receivables.

In addition the comapny has some insurance claims.

The mentioned contingent assets are not booked in the financial accounts.
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note 23. guArAnteeS
The parent company has issued guarantees for the subsidiaries and joint venture companies in the Group, see the 
Financial Statement of the parent company.

note 24. eventS After the reporting period
Bond Loan in Parent Company is under refinancing process. 

CSV Bourbon Oceanteam 101 has formalized a three year contract with a 2x1 year option with Oceaneering and end  
client BP Angola. This contract was secured end December 2011.

CSV Sourther Ocean (renamed from CSV Bourbon Oceanteam 104) has extended the bareboat contract with Fugro-
TSMarine with two years firm ending 2015.

Lay Vessel North Ocean 105 build is progressing as planned  with expected completion for owners in Q2 2012. The vessel 
has been delviered 20 April 2012 and commenced a five year charter with Eastern Marine Services.

An investment program in the equipment division has started early 2012 with the order of a new innovative 1250te 
Flexible installation Carousel. The carousel was successfully delivered in April 2012 and has commenced a 200 days firm 
contract plan options.
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note 25. eArningS per ShAre
The numerator and denominators used in the accompanying calculation of earnings per share above were calculated  
in the manner shown below. The scenario with warrants I will happen if the nominal bond loan will be repaid before  
19th June 2014. If the bond loan is not repaid before 19th June 2014 the Warrants II will be applicable. Please also refer 
to note 17 for repayment of bond loan.

The company does not have information of who has the right to exercise the warrants. If warrants I should occur, the 
warrant holders would then have 50% of the shares. If warrants II should occur, the warrant holders would then have  
66% of the shares.

The warrants I is 148,986,069 with a subscription price equal to 0.10 NOK. The total number of shares will then increase 
to 299,774,462 and it will bring in gross cash to the company of NOK 14.9 million.

The warrants II is 295,996,677with a subscription price equal to 0.10 NOK. The total number of shares will then increase 
to 446,785,070 and it will bring in gross cash to the company of NOK 29.6 million.

2011 2010 Warrants i: Warrants ii:
Net profit (UsD '000) 1 406 209 Net profit (UsD '000) 1 406 1 406
Shares per 1 January 150 788 150 788 Shares per 1 January 150 788 150 788
Transactions Transactions
Shares 31 December 150 788 150 788 Shares 31 December 150 788 150 788
Weighted average of 
shares during the year

150 788 150 788
Weighted average of shares 
during the year

150 788 150 788

Warrants issued 148 968 295 997

Weighted shares and warrants 299 756 446 785

earnings per share 
(UsD)

0,01 0,00
earnings per share (UsD) 
including warrants

0,005 0,003
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note 26. Joint venture

csv vessel head office
the 
company's 
total equity

equity 
interest

voting 
share

csv vessels - operating 
construction and support 
vessels

NoK million

Oceanteam Bourbon 101 AS CSV Oceanteam Bourbon 101 Bergen, Norway 60,0 50 % 50 %
North Ocean II KS CSV North Ocean 102 Bergen, Norway 359,6 50 % 50 %
North Ocean II AS CSV North Ocean 102 Bergen, Norway 17,7 50 % 50 %
Oceanteam Bourbon 4 AS CSV Southern Ocean Bergen, Norway 115,4 50 % 50 %

total assets and liabilities for joint venture companies in the 
Group accounts:

2011 2010

UsD UsD
Current assets 16 722 11 111
Non - current assets 132 121 203 694
Current liabilities 33 092 12 268
Non current liabilities 60 364 81 367
Income 33 840 29 359
Expenses 9 366 10 042
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pAreNt
Amount in NoK ‘000 Notes 2011 2010

revenue
Revenue 2 66
revenue 66

operating expenSeS
Payroll expenses 3,14 13 249 10 458
Depreciation 7 282 200
Write off equipment
Other operating expenses 3, 16 10 714 7 176
total operating expenses 24 245 17 834

operAtiNG proFit/ (Loss) (24 245) (17 768)

financial incoMe anD expenSe
Profit on investment in subsidiaries 2,4 68 500
Interest from group companies 4
Other interest received 4
Foreign exchange result 4
Reverse write off of financial assets 4,18 36 189 41 951
Other financial expenses 4
Net financial income/expenses 4 (44 234) (22 423)
Net finance 60 455 19 528

proFit/ (Loss) BeFore iNcoMe tAX 36 209 1 760

Tax on ordinary income 5

Net proFit/ (Loss) 36 209 1 760

Attributable to:
Other equity 13 36 209 1 760
total 36 209 1 760

FiNANciAL 
stAteMeNts pAreNt

income StAtement by nAture of expenSe
01.01 2011 - 31.12 2011

5 Directors Report

17 Corporate Governance Policy

25 Financial Statements Group

 Financial statements parent

101 Auditors Report

105 Oceanteam Shipping Assets
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pAreNt
Amount in NoK ‘000 Note 2011 2010

non current aSSetS
intangible assets
Research and development 7 1 412
total intangible assets 1 412

Office equipment 7 865 915
total tangible assets 865 915

Financial assets
Investments in subsidiaries 8 348 336 468 083
Loans to group companies 9, 10 297 226 189 142
Investments in associates 8 21 692
total financial assets 667 254 657 225

total non current assets 669 531 658 140

receivables
Trade receivables
Other receivables 13 510 4 911
total receivables 13 510 4 911

Cash and cash equivalents 11 8 386 7 793

total current assets 21 896 12 704

totAL Assets 691 427 670 844

ASSetS
31.12
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pAreNt
Amount in NoK ‘000 Note 2011 2010

equity
owners equity
Share capital 12,13 7 539 7 539
Share premium reserve 13 103 053
total owners equity 7 539 110 592

Accumulated profits
Other equity 209 492 1 760
total accumulated profits 209 492 1 760

total equity 13 217 031 112 352

liaBilitieS
other non-current liabilities
Bond loan 10 441 766 390 920
Other non-current liabilities 9, 10 23 231 137 917
total other non current liabilities 464 997 528 837

current liabilities
Accounts payable 7 128 6 458
Public duties payable 461 922
Other current liabilities 1 809 22 274
total current liabilities 9 398 29 654

total Liabilities 474 395 558 491

totAL eQUity AND LiABiLities 691 427 670 844

eQuity And liAbilitieS
31.12

hessel halbesma  ronald p. moolenaar catharina petronella Johanna pos  haico halbesma 
chairman and Director Director   Director    ceo

Bergen, 27. april 2012
the board of Directors oceanteam shipping AsA
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pAreNt
Amount in NoK ‘000 2011 2010

cash flow from operating activities
Profit/ (loss) before income taxes 95 684 1 760
Profit/ (loss) of sale of assets
Depreciation 282 200
Other non cash items
Change in accounts receivables (1 506)
Change in accounts payable 670 (11 823)
Items classified as investment/financing activities 30 326
Change in other accruals (156 828) (115 441)
Net cash flow from operating activities (61 698) (94 978)

cash flow from investing activities
Pay-out from purchase of fixed assets (1 645) (775)
Investments in subsidaries and associates (7 519)
Pay-out from investments in subsidiaries
Net cash flow from investing activities (9 164) (775)

cash flow from financing activities
Pay-in from new loans raised 30 000
Issuance of debt 20 846
Pay-in non current liabilities (30 000)
Pay-in from merged equity
reverse write off of financial assets 50 846 (30 000)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (20 016) (125 753)
Cash acquire in merger 20 609 133 546
Cash and cash equivalents at 01.01 7 793
cash and cash equivalents at 31.12 8 386 7 793

The cash flow statement is based on the merged opening balance 01/01/2011. 
Corresponding figures has not been changed.

cASh flow StAtement
01.01 - 31.12
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primAry Accounting principleS
The financial statements, which have been presented in compliance with the Norwegian Companies Act, the Norwegian 
Accounting Act and Norwegian generally accepted accounting principles in effect as of 31 December 2011, consist of the 
profit and loss account, balance sheet , cash flow statement and notes to the accounts.

The financial statements have been prepared based on the fundamental principles governing historical cost accounting, 
comparability, continued operations, congruence and prudence. Transactions are recorded at their value at the time of 
the transaction. Income is recognized at the time of delivery of goods or services. Costs are expensed in the same period 
as the income to which they relate. Costs that cannot be directly related to income are expensed as incurred. The differ-
ent accounting principles are further commented on below.

Assets/ liabilities related to current business activities and items which fall due within one year are classified as current 
assets/ liabilities. Current assets/ short-term debts are recorded at the lowest/ highest of acquisition cost and fair value. 
The definition of fair value is the estimated future sales price reduced by expected sales costs. Other assets are classified 
as fixed assets. Fixed assets are entered in the accounts at historical cost, with deductions for depreciation. In the event 
of a decline in value which is not temporary, the fixed asset will be subject to a write-down. The same principle applies to 
liabilities.

According to generally accepted accounting standards there are some exceptions to the basic assessment and valua-
tion principles. Comments on these exceptions can be found in the respective notes to the accounts. When applying the 
basic accounting principles and disclosure of transactions and other items, the “substance over form” rule is adopted. 
Contingent losses which are probable and quantifiable are charged to the profit and loss account.

revenue recognition
Revenue is normally recognized at the time of delivery of goods or services. Operating revenues have been reduced for 
VAT, discounts and bonuses .

coSt recognition/ Matching
Costs are expensed in the same period as the income to which they relate is recognized. Costs that can not be directly 
related to income are expensed as incurred. All costs related to restructuring and discontinued activities are expensed at 
the time restructuring or discontinuaction is decided upon.

other incoMe (coStS)
Material income and cost which are not related to day to day operations are classified as other operating income (costs).

uSe of eStiMateS
The management has used estimates and assumptions that have affected assets, liabilities, incomes, expenses and  
information on potential liabilities in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Norway.

penSionS
The company has a pension scheme that is classified as a defined contribution plan. The defined contribution plan is a 
post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal 
or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are 
recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as 
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

Notes to the pAreNt coMpANy 
FiNANciAL stAteMeNts



  82 Oceanteam Shipping ASA 2011

Depreciation
Based on the historical cost of the asset, straight line depreciation is applied over the useful economic life of the fixed 
assets. The same rules apply for intangible fixed assets. Depreciation is classified as an operating cost. Finance leases are 
depreciated over the term of the lease and the liability is reduced in line with the lease payments after deducting interest.

incoMe tax
The tax expense consists of the tax payable and changes to deferred tax. Deferred tax/ tax assets are calculated on all 
differences between the book value and tax value of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is calculated as 28 percent of 
temporary differences and the tax effect of tax losses carried forward. Deferred tax assets are recorded in the balance 
sheet when it is more likely than not that the tax assets will be utilized.

Due to the exemption rule of gain/ loss related to disposal of shares within the EEC area, there is no deferred tax recorded 
on temporary differences related to shares in subsidiaries or the joint ventures.

Taxes payable and deferred taxes are recognized directly in equity to the extent that they relate to equity transactions.

bAlAnce Sheet clASSificAtion
Current assets and short term liabilities consist of receivables and payables due within one year. Other balance sheet 
items are classified as fixed assets / long term liabilities.

Current assets are valued at the lower of cost and fair value. Short term liabilities are recognized at nominal value.

Fixed assets are valued at cost, less depreciation and impairment losses. Long term liabilities are recognized at nominal 
value.

fixeD aSSetS
Fixed assets are entered in the accounts at historical cost, with deductions for accumulated depreciation and write-down. 
If the fair value of a fixed asset is lower than book value, and the decline in value is not temporary, the fixed asset will be 
written down to fair value. Costs related to periodical maintenance and repairs to production equipment

Periodic maintenance and repairs are accounted for on an accruals basis. Costs related to normal maintenance and repairs 
are expensed as incurred. Costs related to major renewals and changes that increase the economic life of the fixed asset 
materially are capitalized. Assets are capitalized when a finite economic useful life can be defined, and the cost is deemed 
to be significant. Interest costs related to fixed assets under construction are capitalized as a part of the acquisition cost.

Finance costs related to assets under construction are capitalized as a part of the acquisition cost.

SuBSiDiarieS anD inveStMent in joint ventureS
Subsidiaries and investments in joint ventures are valued at cost in the company accounts. The investment is valued as 
cost of the shares in the subsidiaries and the joint ventures, less any impairment losses. An impairment loss is recognized 
if the impairment is not considered temporary, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Impairment 
losses are reversed if the reason for the impairment loss disappears in a later period.
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Dividends, group contributions and other distributions are recognized in the same year as they are recognized in the sub-
sidiary or joint venture financial statement. If dividends / group contribution exceed withheld profits after acquisition, the 
excess amount represents repayment of invested capital, and the distribution will be deducted from the recorded value of 
the acquisition in the balance sheet for the parent company.

accountS receivaBle anD other receivaBleS
Accounts receivable and other current receivables are recorded in the balance sheet at nominal value less provisions for 
doubtful accounts. Provisions for doubtful accounts are based on an individual assessment of the different receivables. 
For the remaining receivables, a general provision is estimated based on expected loss.

reStructuring of the Balance Sheet - the DeBt converSion
The Company’s bond loan and shareholder’s loans were restructured during 2009.The reducing of the nominal value and 
the outstanding interest against conversion into shares in the Company. The debt restructuring was followed by a rights 
issue in which existing shareholders had the opportunity to increase their diluted share in the Company. In these opera-
tions the number of shares in the company increased from 15.2 million to 150.8 million and warrants were issued to the 
parties supporting the financial restructuring of the Company. There are two scenarios for the issued warrents catego-
rized in warrants I and warrants two. Warrents I of 148,986,069 will be effective if the bond loan is refinanced before 
19th June 2014, and warrents II will be effective if not the refinancing of the bond loans happens. Warrents II are a total 
number of 295,996,677.

The costs of the restructuring are deducted from the capital increase. The debt conversion is booked to equity less 
expenses. The bond loan is booked at the restructured nominal value of 400 MNOK and in addition the accruals for the 
expected call premiums.

cASh flow StAtement
The cash flow statement is presented using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits 
and other short term, highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less.

currency
Cash, receivables, liabilities in foreign currency is valued using exchange rate at year end.

eventS after the Balance Sheet Date
New information on the company’s positions at the balance sheet date is taken into account in the annual financial state-
ments. Events after the balance sheet date that do not affect the company’s position at the balance sheet date, but which 
will affect the company’s position in the future, are stated if significant.
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note 2. revenue
NoK ‘000

2011 2010
By business area
Profit on shares 68 500
Offshore Renewables 66
total 68 500 66

Geographical distribution
Europe 68 500 66
total 68 500 66

The company has been through a merger process and profit on shares is from subsidiaries.

note 3. employeeS, boArd And Auditor
NoK ‘000

2011 2010
employee benefits expense
Salaries Norway 3 578 4 379
Social security 528 540
Pension costs 113 190
Other benefits 183 213
Payroll expenses invoiced from other group companies 8 848 5 136
total 13 249 10 458

Oceanteam Shipping ASA had 6,00 in average number of employee years during 2011

NoK ‘000
Management remuneration 2011 ceo

contractor fee 2 402

The CEO (Haico Halbesma) is invoicing through a Dutch company named Heer Holland B.V
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Board Name position Directors fee committee fee
NoK ‘000 NoK’000

Mr Hessel Halbesma Chairman 300 3 504
Mr Ronald Moolenaar Director 200 2 050
Mrs Catharina Petronella Johanna Pos Director 200 1 464

There are no bonus agreements, options, or pensions plans for the CEO. Annual salary is EUR 282.000-. He has also 
waived his protection in relation dismissal. For this waiver twelve month salary is offered as compensation. For the year 
2011, the agreed fee for the chairman of the board is NOK 300 000 and NOK 200 000 for the other directors of the 
board. In addition, the agreed fee for committee work is EUR 2 400 per day.

The management has an incentive scheme where the incentive is based on the yearly gross salary. The incentive cannot 
be more than the annual salary.

Oceanteam Shipping ASA has established a new office in Monaco. In addition the Group has a sublease contract for 
offices in Monaco with Challenger Management Services SAM, owned by director Ronald Moolenaar. The rent and service 
charges for these offices amounts to EUR 76,560 per year.

auDitor
Auditor’s fee consists of the following:

NoK ‘000
2011 2010

Statutory audit 1 355 1 253
Other assurance services 361 359
Tax advisory 85 129
Other 115 269
total 1 916 2 009

VAT is not included in the auditor’s fee.
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note 4. finAnce income And coStS
NoK’000

2011 2010
Finance income
Write-off investments
Income investment in subsidiaries 68 500 5 209
Interest income from group companies 10 873
Other interest income 831 12 799
Other financial income (agio) 57 112 207 104
total finance income 137 316 225 112

Finance costs
Reversing write-down investment in subsidiaries 36 189 41 951
Write-down loans to subsidiaries 0
Other interest expenses (51 585) (38 764)
Other financial expenses (6 912) (389)
Other financial cost (disagio) (54 553) (208 382)
total finance costs (76 861) (205 584)

result financial items 60 455 19 528
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note 5. income tAxeS
NoK ‘000

2011 2010
income tax expense
Tax payable
Changes in deferred tax
Write-down of deferred tax asset
Deferred tax from equity transactions
total income tax expense

tax base calculation
Profit before income tax 36 209 1 760
Permanent differences (13 517) (28 864)
Changes in temporary differences (169 971) (100 492)
tax base (147 279) (127 596)

temporary differences:
Fixed assets (14 415) (21 822)
Non-current receivables (152 858)
Non current assets
Current assets
Profit and Loss account 3 134 3 917
Taxable income from Subsidiairies
Effect foreign exchange on long-term liabilities 10 200
Other temporary differences (20 689)
total (11 281) (181 252)

Loss carry forward (990 601) (843 323)
total (1 001 882) (1 024 575)

Temporary differences not included in base for calculating deferred tax (979 320) (1 024 575)
Deferred tax liability (asset)

effective tax rate 2011 2010
Expected income taxes at statutory
tax rate 28% 10 139 493
Permanent differences (28%) (3 785) (8 082)
Deferred tax from equity transactions
Change in temp. differences not recognised (6 354) 7 589
Deferred tax from share of loss in subs.
income tax expense 0 0

Effective tax rate in % 0,0 % 0,0 %



  88 Oceanteam Shipping ASA 2011

note 6. deferred tAx ASSetS
Deferred tax assets is not recognized in the balance sheet as there are uncertainty according to use as it depends on 
income from subsidiaries and income for subsidiaries depends on interest income and changes in foreign exchange.

note 7. ASSetS
NoK ‘000

2011 2010
intangible assets
Design No 207
Acquisition cost at 01.01.
Additions 1 412
Disposals
Book value 31.12. 1 412

tangible assets
participation in csv 105
Acquisition cost at 01.01.
Additions 21 692
Disposals
Book value 31.12. 21 692

property, plant and equipment. Movables, fixtures a.o.
Acquisition cost at 01.01. 2 342 1 566
Additions 233 776
Disposals
Acquisition cost 31.12. 2 575 2 342

Accumulated amortisation at 31.12. (1 709) (1 427)
Accumulated impairments 31.12.
reversed impairments 31.12.

net carrying value at 31.12. 866 915

Depreciation for the year (282) (200)
Impairments for the year
The useful economic life is estimated to be: 3-5 years 3-5 years
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note 8. inveStment in SubSidiArieS, Joint ventureS And ASSociAteS
NoK ‘000

ownership voting
Acquired Location share share

Oceanteam Bourbon 101 AS 2006 Bergen 50 % 50 %
North Ocean II KS 2006 Bergen 50 % 100 %
North Ocean II AS 2006 Bergen 50 % 100 %
Oceanteam Bourbon 4 AS 2006 Bergen 50 % 50 %
North Ocean 105 AS 2010 Bergen 25 % 25 %
North Ocean 207 AS 2011 Bergen 100 % 100 %

Oceanteam Shipping BV * 2011 Amsterdam 100 % 100 %
Oceanteam II BV 2007 Amsterdam 100 % 100 %
Oceanteam Mexico B.V * 2008 Amsterdam 100 % 100 %

Oceanteam Mexico S.A de C.V * 2008
Ciuadad del 

Carmen
90 % 49 %

Oceanteam Energy Holding NV 2008 Schiedam 100 % 100 %
DEP B.V. * 2008 Schiedam 100 % 100 %
KCI Holding B.V. * 2008 Schiedam 100 % 100 %
KCI B.V * 2008 Schiedam 70 % 70 %

Oceanteam Shipping GmbH * 2007 Amsterdam 100 % 100 %
Oceeanteam Shipping Monaco 2011 Monaco 100 % 100 %

The investments in subsidiaries are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

Oceanteam Shipping 102 and 105 AS, Oceanteam Shipping 101 and 104 AS and Oceanteam Shipping ASA has been 
through an internal merger process in 2011 where business fully continues in Oceanteam Shipping AS. For more informa-
tion please refer to note 18

* The shares are indirectly owned by Oceanteam Shipping ASA through subsidiaries.
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NoK ‘000

investments valued at cost (company accounts)

company name share Number Book equity Net profit
capital of shares value 2011

nok nok nok nok
Oceanteam Bourbon 101 AS 2 613 2 610 30 472 60 079 39 390
Oceanteam Bourbon 4 AS 114 805 100 57 403 115 346 47 129
North Ocean II KS 177 730 177 730 80 050 359 563 54 663
North Ocean II AS 17 863 17 863 000 8 932 17 717 (23)
North Ocean 105 AS 119 100 100 119 0
North Ocean 207 AS 100 100 110 (17) (122)

Abroad companies in eUr 1 000 eUr NoK eUr eUr
Oceanteam II BV 18 18 000 81 050 (3 066) 1 703
Imera NV 45 450 045 0 (52) (36)
Oceanteam Energy Holding NV 45 45 000 89 055 9 171 49
Oceanteam Shipping Monaco SAM 150 1 500 1 164 (67) (217)

sum 348 335 5 986 1 499
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note 9. intercompAny bAlAnceS with group compAnieS And ASSociAteS
NoK ‘000

2011 2010
intercompany balances
Oceanteam Bourbon 101 AS 77 336 994
Oceanteam Shipping 101 and 104 AS 0 41 175
North Ocean II AS (7) (7)
North Ocean II KS 12 247 (568)
Oceanteam Bourbon 4 AS 60 138 32 685
Oceanteam Shipping GmbH 16 582 45 830
Oceanteam II BV 21 025 35 176
Oceanteam Shipping 102 and 105 AS 0 (134 028)
CONAT, Mexico 51 342 30 679
IMERA 321 102
KCI Holding 0 2 192
Oceanteam Mexico BV 432 309
Oceanteam Energy Holding NV (8 197) (1 999)
Oceanteam Equipment Base Ltd 605 (17)
OEH NV to DEP Beheer 0 (1 298)
North Ocean 207 AS 1 625
Oceanteam Shipping Monaco SAM 425
Oceanteam Shipping BV 55 149
sum 289 022 51 225

Oceanteam Shipping 101 and 104 AS, Oceanteam Shipping 102 and 105 AS, Oceanteam Shipping ASA have been through 
an internal merging process in 2011. The business continues in Oceanteam Shipping ASA.
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note 10. liAbilitieS And receivAbleS
NoK ‘000

2011 2010
receivables/ liabilities due in more than one year
Loans to group companies 297 226 189 142

Long term liabilities due in more than one year
Bond Loan - nominal value (400 000) (370 000)
Bond Loan - expected call premium accrued (41 766) (20 920)
Other long term liabilities
Liabilities to group companies (8 062) (137 917)
total (449 970) (528 837)

In 2010 and 2011 Oceanteam Shipping ASA have reversed several write-offs due to settlements.

The Bond Loan has financial covenants which limit ability to incur new indebtedness, no dividend can be paid and booked 
equity and market adjusted equity ratio must be minimum 25% and respectively 35%.

In July 2009 a restructuring of the Bond Loan and other unsecured loans was implemented, converting 52.5% of the 
outstanding loan amounts and interest into 87.5% of the Company equity. 106.1 million shares were issued in the debt 
restructuring against a conversion rate of NOK 4.85 per share. In September 2009 Oceanteam further improved its equity 
base by a rights issue placement of 29.5 million shares against a price of NOK 1.85 per share. Almost the full amount of 
the rights issue has been taken up by the providers of shareholder loans who made use of the possibility to convert their 
shareholder loan positions into equity.

In addition to the mention writedown of the nominal value of the Bond loan, the following amendments to the terms of 
the loan were made:

•	 Maturity date to be stretched to 18 June 2014
•	 The interest margin (to NIBOR) to be increased by 100 bsp per year from December 2010
•	 Nominal value to be increased to NOK 440 million if not repaid within 18 June 2012
•	 Nominal value to be increased to NOK 484 million if not repaid within 18 June 2013
•	 The Bond Loan is callable with the following call prices
 - NOK 423,035,043 through 18 June 2011
 - NOK 457,587,608 through 18 June 2012
 - NOK 497,587,608 through 18 June 2013
 - NOK 541,035,043 through 18 June 2014

note 11. bAnK depoSitS
Tax deducted from employees, deposited in a separate bank account NOK 239.905,-. Oceanteam Shipping ASA deposit 
bank guarantee to subsidiaries amount EUR 350.000.
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note 12. ShAre cApitAl And ShAreholder informAtion
Share capital
At 31.12.2011, Oceanteam Shipping ASA has a share capital of NOK 7,539,418,-, distributed on 150,788,393 A shares. 
There are also two kind of warrants issued: I of 148,986,069 and II of 295,996,977. Both the warrants have a subscription 
price of NOK 0.10.

ShareholDer overview
The major shareholders in Oceanteam Shipping ASA as well as shares held by executive employees and board members 
including shares owned by affiliated individuals and companies were at 31 December as provided below:

shareholders Number of shares equity interest
SIX SIS AG 1,2 50 090 875 33,2 %
NORTH SEA SHIPPING HOLDING AS 6 590 433 4,4 %
MP PENSJON PK 4 973 529 3,3 %
THE ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND N.V. 4 479 470 3,0 %
KALFARET AS 4 450 638 3,0 %
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK 3 735 576 2,5 %
TOLLEFSEN 3 618 840 2,4 %
VARNER-GRUPPEN AS 3 502 102 2,3 %
SPAREBANKEN ØST 3 502 102 2,3 %
SONGA SHIPPING & TRADING LTD 2 393 103 1,6 %
BOREA NOTERTE I AS 2 222 244 1,5 %
KORNDORFFER BEHEER 2 216 000 1,5 %
BOREA NOTERTE III AS 2 012 934 1,3 %
EUROCLEAR BANK S.A./N.V. ('BA') 1 164 131 0,8 %
MJELDE 1 002 000 0,7 %
ROLLAND 1 001 000 0,7 %
RØDSET 1 000 000 0,7 %
OLSBORG 868 400 0,6 %
BOREA KREDITT AS 835 946 0,6 %
CREDIT SUISSE SECURITIES 817 157 0,5 %
subtotal 20 largest 100 476 480 66,6 %
Others 50 311 913 33,4 %
total 150 788 393 100,0 %

Board:
Hessel Halbesma (SIX SIS AG) 1 42 261 128 28,0 %
Ronald P. Moolenaar (SIX SIS AG) 2 7 829 097 5,2 %
total for Board 50 090 225 33,2 %

Management
Haico Halbesma, CEO 1 43 867 0,03 %
Torbjørn Skulstad, CFO 3 280 200 0,19 %
total of shares owned by executive employees 324 067 0,21 %
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shareholders Number of shares equity interest
related parties:
Norha Invest AS 1 602 000 0,40 %
Tor Arend Halbesma 500 000 0,33 %
total shares owned by related parties 1 102 000 0,73 %

total shares controlled by halbesma familiy 43 406 995 28,79 %

1. Norha Invest AS are controlled by the Halbesma family. Haico Halbesma is CEO and Hessel Halbesma  
is Chairman of Oceanteam Shipping ASA. Haico Halbesma also owns 43 867 shares privately. In addition  
the Halbesma family controls 91 million warrants. Tor Arend Halbesma is a son of Hessel Halbesma.
2. Ronald Moolenaar is a director in the board of Oceanteam Shipping ASA
3. Torbjørn Skulstad is CFO of Oceanteam Shipping ASA.
For more information, please refer to related party transaction in note 19.

note 13. eQuity
NoK ‘000

share premium Accumulated sum
capital fund profit

Equity 31.12.10 7 539 103 053 1 760 112 352
Write down of shares
Capital Increase
Internal Merger process 68 470 68 470
Reducing funds to cover earlier losses
Reclassifing funds (103 053) 103 053
Net profit for the year 36 209 36 209
equity 31.12.11 7 539 209 492 217 031

Diluted shares - warrants i or warrants ii
Number of shares

share capital before restructuring: 15 227 891
EGM 14. July - restructuring part I: 106 109 886
Rights issue 24 September 2009 29 450 616
total number of shares per 30th september 2009: 150 788 393

total number of shares is still 150 788 393 by the end of 2010.

Warrants i - when bond loan and shareholder loans repaid before 19th June 2014: Number of warrants i
Warrants I - Providers MNOK 90 bridge loan 60 634 221
Warrants I - Participants Rights Issue 88 351 848
total number of warrants ii per 30th september 148 986 069

Warrants ii - when bond loan and shareholder loans are not repaid before 19th June 2014: Number of warrants ii
Warrants II - bond holders 260 512 504
Warrants II - Providers share holders loans 35 484 173
total number of warrants ii per 30th september 295 996 677
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note 14. penSionS
The Company is required to have an occupational pension scheme in accordance with the Norwegian law on required 
occupational pension (“lov om obligatorisk tjenestepensjon”). The company’s pension scheme meets the requirements  
of that law. The company’s pension scheme is a defined contribution plan funded through an insurance company.

note 15. mAteriAl trAnSActionS
In October 2011, the Company have settled 2 claims with the outcome of payment EUR 2.2 million and receivable of  
EUR 0.5 million.

note 16. eventS After the bAlAnce Sheet dAte
Bond Loan in Parent Company is under refinancing process.

New committed termsheets have been received due to refinancing and will bring in liquidity into Oceanteam Shipping.

CSV Bourbon Oceanteam Bourbon 101 has formalized a three year contract with a 2x1 year option with Oceaneering and 
end client BP Angola. This contract is secured in December 2011.

CSV Sourther Ocean (renamed from Bourbon Oceanteam 104) has extended the bareboat contract with Fugro-TSMarine 
with two years firm endring 2015.

Lay Vessel North Ocean 105 has been delivered 20 April 2012 and commenced a five year charter  
with Eastern Marine Services.

An investment program in the equipment division has started early 2012 with the order of a new innovative 1250te 
Flexible Installation Carousel. The carousel was successfully delivered in April 2012 and has commenced a 200 days  
firm contract.
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note 17. mArKet riSK
Oceanteam Shipping ASA has the exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

- credit risk
- liquidity risk
- market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk)

Other group receivables will be depending on performance of the actual operations in the subisdiary, joint venture  
or associate.

The market risk is currency risk reflected on the intercompany loans since these loans are in NOK. The intercompany 
loans has a fixed interest of 7 prc. The bond loan has quarterly roll over on the interest which is NIBOR plus a margin. By 
December 2010 the margin has increased with 100 bp from 375 bp to 475 bp, ref the restructured bond loan in note 10.

note 18. impAriment of fixed ASSetS And reverSAlS of impAriment
In 2009 the company recognized impairments of shares in subisidiary Oceanteam Shipping 103 AS by TNOK 28,886, loan 
to subsidiary Oceanteam TPC AS by TNOK 13,065 and loan to subsidiary Oceanteam II BV by TNOK 39,920. In 2010 and 
2011 restructuring took place, and the subsidiary will be capable of repaying the loan to Oceanteam Shipping ASA.

Under NRS (F) Nedskriving av anleggsmidler (Norwegian Accounting Standard on Impairment of Fixed Assets), a unit for 
impairment evaluation must be determined. In 2009 the unit was the separate subsidiaries. After the merger it must be 
argued that the unit of judgment of impairment has changed and now is the merged company. The standard also governs 
a reversal of earlier impairment performed, if the basis for impairment no longer is considered relevant. 

Due to this restructuring the write down of 50 % loan to Oceanteam II BV has been reversed in 2011, since the company 
is able to repay the loan, and the impairment no longer is considered as relevant. The reversals gave rise to a financial 
income of TNOK 36 189 in 2011.
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note 19. contingent liAbilitieS
The company has one claim of EUR 325.000 which the company has provided a bank guarantee for the same amount as 
the claim. The company’s legal advice is that the company has a strong case and therefore no accrual has been made in 
the annual accounts.

The mentioned liabilities are not booked in the financial accounts.

note 20. merger
In 2011 there was a merger between Oceanteam Shipping ASA, Oceanteam Shipping 101 and 104 AS and Oceanteam 
Shipping 120 and 105 AS. Oceanteam Shipping ASA as the acquiring company and remaining as transferring companies.
The merger is a part of a restructuring process which is implemented for the simplification and optimisation of the  
company- and decision structure.

The merger was completed for accounting purposes with effect from 1 January 2011. All transactions, costs and income 
related to the assets, rights and liabilities which are transferred to Oceanteam Shipping ASA shall be allocated to 
Oceanteam Shipping ASA from that point in time.

The merger will for accounting purposes be completed at continuity.

Corresponding figures have not been changed.
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note 21. trAnSActionS with relAted pArtieS
income/recharge exp. cost NoK ‘000

company 2011 2010 2011 2010 type of transaction
Cenzo BV (1 464) Board Committee
Toha Invest BV (1 159) (1 587) Amstel Lease guarantee

Oceanteam Holding BV 4 205 67 536 Board Committee
Feastwood Holding Ltd 132 (886) Board Committee
Heer Holland BV (2 414) Management Services
Challenger Management 
Services S.A.M

7 4 (1 968) (1 147) Board Committee

customer balance vendor balance
intercompany balances 2011 2010 2011 2010
Cenzo BV
Toha Invest BV 512 0 311
Oceanteam Holding BV (697) (119)
Feastwood Holding Ltd (559)
Heer Holland BV (182)
Challenger Management 
Services S.A.M

4 (549) 153
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note 22. trAnSActionS with group compAnieS
NoK ‘000 income cost

2011 2011
Oceanteam Shipping ASA to Imera NV 15
Oceanteam Shipping ASA to OEH NV (372)
Oceanteam Shipping ASA to KCI Holding
Oceanteam Shipping ASA to Oceanteam II BV 4 410
Oceanteam Shipping ASA to Oceanteam Mexico BV 22 (408)
Oceanteam Shipping ASA to Mexico SA de CV (Conat) 1 099
Oceanteam Shipping ASA to OS GmbH 2 364
Oceanteam Shipping ASA to OT Equipment Base Ltd 426 (1)
Oceanteam Shipping ASA to OB 101 AS 241
Oceanteam Shipping ASA to NO II KS (5)
Oceanteam Shipping ASA to NO II AS 23 (0)
Oceanteam Shipping ASA to OS 102 AS (9 682)
Oceanteam Shipping ASA to OB 4 AS 1 850
Oceanteam Shipping ASA to NO 207 AS 169

Transactions with group companies consists of internal interest which is calculated for intercompany balances.
Interest rate of 7% is applied.
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oceANteAM shippiNG 
Assets

cSv north oceAn 102
This DP2 Construction Support Vessel was delivered in Q4 
2008. The vessel has been working for ABB High Voltage 
AB since its delivery and been mobilised with a 7000 
tonnes, 2 x 120 tonnes tensioners flexible product instal-
lation spread. CSV North Ocean 102 is equipped with one 
100 ton heave compensated cranes. The second of the 
standard design North Ocean 100 series has been con-
verted in one of the largest flexible product installation 
vessel in the world suitable for both subsea power cables 
and pipelines. The ship is 137 meter in length and has a 27 
meter beam and can accommodate up to 199. The vessel is 
jointly owned by Oceanteam Shipping and McDermott. The 
vessel has secured a 5 year charter with McDermott and 
will be utilised world wide for cable and pipeline installa-
tion works.

general description

Type: DP2 Construction Support/
 Flexible Product installation vessel
Classification: DNV +1A1 HELIDEK DYNPOS AUTR
 EO DK(+) NAUT-OSV, CLEAN,
 COMF-(V3)
Flag: Malta
Year Of Build:  2008
Builder: Metalships, Vigo, Spain
Length over all: 137m
Beam:  27 m

cSv bourbon oceAnteAm 101
Upon delivery in December 2007, this DP2 Construction 
Support Vessel has been operating as a field support ves-
sel with BP Angola for the company’s Greater Plutonium 
Field development (in Block 18). The first of the standard 
design NorthOcean 100 series is jointly owned by 
Oceanteam Shipping and Bourbon Ofshore Norway. The 
ship is 122,5 meters at length with a 27 meter beam. Its 
excellent seafaring capabilities, one 150 tonnes and one 
100tonnes fully heave compensated cranes, moon pool, 
2000m2 free deck space and 120 accommodation enables 
CSV Bourbon Oceanteam 101 to be utilised for field sup-
port, construction, installation and IRM support.

general description

Type:  DP2 Construction Support/
 Flexible Product installation vessel
Classification: DNV+1A1 HELIDEK DYNPOS
 AUTR EODK (+) NAUT-OSV
 CLEAN, CONF-(V3)

Flag: Malta

Year Of Build:  2007

Builder: Metalships, Vigo, Spain

Length over all: 125 m

Beam: 27 m

veSSelS5 Directors Report
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cSv Southern oceAn
The vessel was delivered in Q4 2010 and immediately 
commenced its first project for Fugro-TSMarine Australia. 
This DP2 DP2 Construction Support / Flexible Product 
Installation vessel combines a moon pool, two large cranes 
(1 x 250 tonnes and 1 x 100 tonnes, heave compensated), 
2500m2 deck space, 120 accommodation and excellent 
seafaring capabilities, enabling her to be utilised for field 
support, construction, installation and IRM.

general description

Type: DP2 Construction Support/
 Flexible Product installation vessel

Classification: DNV+1A1 HELIDEK DYNPOS AUTR

 EO DK (+) NAUT-OSV CLEAN,
 CONF-(V3)

Flag: Malta

Year of build: 2010

Builder: Metalships, Vigo, Spain

Length over all: 137m

Beam: 27 m fSv mAntArAyA / fSv tiburon
This innovate Fast Support Vessels (FSV’s) are operational 
in the Gulf of Mexico and will soon transfer to Venezuela. 
The vessels are capable of transporting 75 p.o.b. and cargo 
at a cruising speed of 25 knots with largely improved fuel 
efficiency compared to similar vessel available.
As from 2011 onwards the vessels will be operating in 
Venezuela.

lAy veSSel north oceAn 105
High-capacity, rigid-reeled vertical pipelay vessel, with 
3000-ton payload reel capacity for subsea construction 
and installation, and deepwater moorings installation; 
which has been delivered the 20th April 2012. The vessel 
has started a five years charter contract at delivery.

veSSelS
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eQuipment

oceAnJet 900
The Oceanjet 900 system comprises the trenching ROV, a 
self-contained control cabin, transformer cabin, umbilical 
winch, and a LARS (Launch and Recovery System). The 
versatile design allows the complete system to be road 
transportable and easily mobilised/ demobilised on suitable 
vessels.

preformance

Thrusters, fwd/aft/lateral: 1500 kg thrust each
Vertical:   1500 kg thrust each
Jetting system:  Variable 250-690m³/h, 6-13 bar
Adjustable trench depth: 0.5 m – 2.0 m
Maximum:  kPa 70 kPa

weights and dimensions

Vehicle dimensions:  5000 x 4190 x 2970 mm
Vehicle weight in air: 13000 kg
A’ Frame Transportation 
Dimensions:  12000 x 2986 x 3500 mm
A’ Frame Operational 
Dimensions:  12000 x 2986 x 8640 mm
A’ Frame weight:  35 tonnes
A’ Frame incl. winch etc: 42 tonnes
Operational SWL:  20 tonnes

oceAnplough 01
This SMD built Heavy Duty Flexible Plough is designed to 
trench large diameter flexible products in a wide range of 
soils. Used for post or simultaneous lay and burial, it is able 
to continuously vary its trench depth - up to 3m - through 
a combination of an articulated chassis and skid control. 
The high bollard pull of the plough enables it to trench 
through stiff and firm clays. In sand, the performance of 
the plough can be enhanced – in terms of speed and depth 
– through a subsea jetting facility, which injects water 
through the share’s leading edge and tip.

general description

Plough (on deck) 
Dimensions (LxBxH): 15 m x 6.5 m x 7m
Weight in air:  45 tonnes
Control Cabin  
Dimensions:  6 m x 2.54 m x 2.74 m
Weight:  12 tonnes

Umbilical Winch 
Dimensions:  3.5 m x 2.7 m x 3.1 m
Weight in air:  20 tonnes

HPU 
Dimensions:  1.9 m x 2.4 m x 2.6 m
Weight in air:  5 tonnes
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modulAr 1250 ton cArouSel
The Oceanteam 1250te Basket Carousel system comprises 
basket, Spider frame base, Gooseneck tower and 20ft 
Containerised HPU. The basket is rotated by means of 4 
sets of single pair wheels gripping the outer rim of the 
basket. The basket can be raised or lowered via jacking 
cylinders on the spider frame under-rollers. During ves-
sel transit, the drive wheels will be dis-engaged, and the 
basket lowered to the storage position, meaning the basket 
will be resting on the spider frame base. Rotational speed 
is varied by means of proportional hydraulic valves on the 
HPU. The Gooseneck at the top of the tower has the abil-
ity to slew approximately 30deg by means of a manually 
operated hydraulic ram, this function enables the product 
to be coiled more easily when loading. Similarly assisting 
the product, to exit the basket during lay operations. In 
addition, the modular 1250te carousel systems are fully 
mountable and can be transported easily in parts by road 
or vessel in 40FT containers which will have a positive 
impact on clients mobilization cost and time.

eQuipment
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